
County Offices
Newland

Lincoln
LN1 1YL

21 May 2018

Adults and Community Wellbeing Scrutiny Committee

A meeting of the Adults and Community Wellbeing Scrutiny Committee will be held on 
Wednesday, 30 May 2018 at 10.00 am in Committee Room One, County Offices, 
Newland, Lincoln LN1 1YL for the transaction of the business set out on the attached 
Agenda. 

Yours sincerely

Richard Wills
Head of Paid Service

Membership of the Adults and Community Wellbeing Scrutiny Committee (11 
Members of the Council)

Councillors C E H Marfleet (Chairman), Mrs E J Sneath (Vice-Chairman), M T Fido, 
Mrs P Cooper, R J Kendrick, Mrs J E Killey, Mrs C J Lawton, A P Maughan, C E Reid, 
M A Whittington and Mrs M J Overton MBE

Public Document Pack





ADULTS AND COMMUNITY WELLBEING SCRUTINY COMMITTEE AGENDA
WEDNESDAY, 30 MAY 2018

Item Title Pages 

1 Apologies for Absence/Replacement Members 

2 Declarations of Members' Interests 

3 Minutes of the meeting of the Adults and Community 
Wellbeing Scrutiny Committee held on 11 April 2018 

5 - 12

4 Announcements by the Chairman, Executive Councillor and 
Lead Officers 

5 The 2017 Annual Report of the Director of Public Health for 
Lincolnshire 
(To receive a report from Derek Ward (Director of Public Health), 
which presents the 2017 Annual Report of the Director of Public 
Health for Lincolnshire)

13 - 54

6 Presentation on the Role of the Director of Public Health 
(To receive a presentation from Derek Ward (Director of Public 
Health) on the role of the Director of Public Health)

Verbal 
Report

7 Local Healthwatch Procurement 
(To receive a report by David Stacey (Programme Manager, 
Strategy and Performance) and Alex Craig (Commercial and 
Procurement Manager – People Services) which invites the 
Committee to consider a report on Local Healthwatch 
Procurement, which is due to be decided by the Executive 
Councillor between 1st to 7th June.  The views of the Committee 
will be reported to the Executive Councillor, as part of her 
consideration of this item)

55 - 68

8 Lincolnshire Safeguarding Boards Scrutiny Sub Group - 
Update 
(To receive a report by Andrea Brown (Democratic Services 
Officer), which invites the Committee to receive the minutes of the 
Lincolnshire Safeguarding Boards Scrutiny Sub Group which was 
held on 16 April 2018)

69 - 80

9 Adults and Community Wellbeing Scrutiny Committee Work 
Programme 
(To receive a report by Simon Evans (Health Scrutiny Officer), 
which invites the Committee to consider and comment on its work 
programme for the coming months)

81 - 86



Democratic Services Officer Contact Details 

Name: Cheryl Hall

Direct Dial 01522 552113

E Mail Address cheryl.hall@lincolnshire.gov.uk

Please note:  for more information about any of the following please contact 
the Democratic Services Officer responsible for servicing this meeting

 Business of the meeting
 Any special arrangements
 Copies of reports

Contact details set out above.

All papers for council meetings are available on: 
www.lincolnshire.gov.uk/committeerecords

http://www.lincolnshire.gov.uk/committeerecords


1

ADULTS AND COMMUNITY 
WELLBEING SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

11 APRIL 2018

PRESENT: COUNCILLOR C E H MARFLEET (CHAIRMAN)

Councillors Mrs E J Sneath (Vice-Chairman), R J Kendrick, A P Maughan, 
R B Parker, C E Reid and M A Whittington

Officers in attendance:-

Sue Cecconi (Programme Officer), Simon Evans (Health Scrutiny Officer), 
Philip Garner (Health Improvement Programme Manager), Lorraine Graves (General 
Manager, Specialist Adult Services), Justin Hackney (Assistant Director, Specialist 
Adult Services), Cheryl Hall (Democratic Services Officer), Simon Hallam (Projects 
Co-ordinator for Tonic Health), Theo Jarratt (County Manager, Performance, Quality 
and Development), David Jones (Lincolnshire Partnership NHS Foundation Trust), 
Jane Marshall (Director of Strategy and Performance, Lincolnshire Partnership NHS 
Foundation Trust) and Carl Miller (Commercial and Procurement Manager - People 
Services).

53    APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE/REPLACEMENT COUNCILLORS

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors M T Fido, Mrs J E Killey and 
Mrs C J Lawton.

It was noted that the Interim Chief Executive had advised that having received a 
notice under Regulation 13 of the Local Government (Committees and Political 
Groups) Regulations 1990, he had appointed Councillor R B Parker as a replacement 
member of the Committee in place of Councillor Mrs J E Killey, for this meeting only.

54    DECLARATIONS OF COUNCILLORS' INTERESTS

Councillor A P Maughan declared an interest in agenda item 8 – NHS Health Checks 
Re-Procurement, as the accountancy company that he was an employee of provided 
accountancy services to a number of GP practices in Lincolnshire.  Councillor 
Maughan advised that he would not take part in the discussion nor vote on this item 
of business.

55    MINUTES OF THE MEETING OF THE COMMITTEE HELD ON 
14 FEBRUARY 2018

RESOLVED

That the minutes of the meeting held on 14 February 2018 be signed by the 
Chairman as a correct record.

Page 5

Agenda Item 3



2
ADULTS AND COMMUNITY WELLBEING SCRUTINY COMMITTEE
11 APRIL 2018

56    ANNOUNCEMENTS BY THE CHAIRMAN, EXECUTIVE COUNCILLOR 
AND LEAD OFFICER

There were no announcements by the Chairman, Executive Councillor or lead 
Officer.

57    LINCOLNSHIRE'S MANAGED CARE NETWORK FOR MENTAL HEALTH

Consideration was given to a report from Jane Marshall (Director of Strategy, 
Lincolnshire Partnership NHS Foundation Trust (LPFT)) and Lorraine Graves 
(General Manager, Specialist Adult Services), which detailed the latest developments 
in the use of the Mental Health Promotion Funded Managed Care Network (MCN), 
which was run by LPFT.   

It was noted that the network was set up in response to reductions in the Adult Social 
Care budget.  The aim of the network was to "improve people's mental health and 
quality of life by helping them to find personally relevant, safe and effective support".

The Committee received a presentation which provided members with more detailed 
information in relation to the following areas: -

 What we do;
 How we are different;
 Wave 7;
 The Managed Care Network for Mental Health;
 Social Determinants;
 System Working: Self Care and Prevention Strategy;
 Health and Social Care: Nottingham University Independent Evaluation 2015;
 Impact Assessment 2015: Phase 2 – Achievement of Strategic Objectives;
 Before the MCN;
 Joining the Dots;
 Personal Outcomes;
 Key Opportunities;
 Key Challenges;
 Current Strategic Developments; and
 MCN Activities.

The Chairman invited Simon Hallam (Projects Co-ordinator for Tonic Health) to 
address the Committee about the work of Tonic Health, which had received support 
and funding through the MCN to provide Dementia Support in South Holland.  The 
ways in which dementia services were provided by Tonic Health were discussed, 
including Tonic Health's staffing arrangements. 

The Projects Co-ordinator invited Members of the Committee to attend one of Tonic 
Health's weekly Focus Clubs in Spalding, which provided support to patients and/or 
their carers with dementia.  Members of the Committee welcomed this invitation. 

Page 6



3
ADULTS AND COMMUNITY WELLBEING SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

11 APRIL 2018

Members were provided with the opportunity to ask questions to the officers present 
in relation to the information contained with the report and presentation, and some of 
the points raised included the following: -

 It was recognised that the concept of the MCN was an innovative one, which 
aimed to "improve people's mental health and quality of life by helping them to 
find personally relevant, safe and effective support";

 It was confirmed that the services provided by Tonic Health were not fully 
funded by the MCN.  In addition to the funding received through the MCN, 
users of Tonic Health contributed £20 per person, per Focus Club meeting.  It 
was noted that Tonic Health received 75% of its funding via the MCN;

 The Projects Co-ordinator advised that in recent years the diagnosis rates for 
dementia were on the increase and therefore there was an increase in 
demand for support services for dementia care;

 It was advised that the employees of Tonic Health were employed on a self-
employed or voluntary basis.  It was advised that this was owing to the non-
recurrent nature of the funding received through the MCN and therefore the 
service being unable to commit to any ongoing contracts of employment;

 The Committee was advised that it was typical for organisations that were 
funded through the MCN to have a combination of both paid employees and 
volunteers;

 Members were advised that Tonic Health publicised its services via its 
Facebook page; the Johnson Hospital's Memory Team; its website; through 
the local free newspaper; and via promotion through local community groups;

 It was advised that funding decisions were made on an annual basis and 
rolled out via funding waves.  The MCN was part way through delivering wave 
7 of funding and details of waves 1 – 6 were provided as part of the 
Committee's report.  It was queried whether there were any waves beyond 1 – 
7, and if there were any examples of projects which had since become self-
sufficient.  Members were advised that the Shine Network was a good 
example which had been established through an earlier wave and had recently 
received charitable status.  It was hoped that there would be further waves of 
funding.  However, this was dependent on the MCN continuing to receive 
funding.  It was noted that the MCN was funded through the Better Care Fund 
(BCF), but that the Committee was advised of the uncertainty about the future 
of the BCF;

 The Projects Co-ordinator advised that he would be willing to assist any 
community group in establishing a similar organisation to Tonic Health in 
another area of the County.  It was also advised that the Shine Network could 
also offer this kind of support;  

 It was commented that there appeared to be an issue with the equality of the 
geographic distribution of funds.  Members were advised that the map on page 
16 of the report only detailed wave 7 funding and it was highlighted that there 
had been six previous waves, which had distributed funds equitably across the 
County.  Officers offered to circulate a map detailing the distribution of funding 
across the county for the previous waves; 

 It was confirmed that the non-recurrent funding provided by the MCN to the 
projects in each wave should be used as 'kick-start' funding with an aim of 

Page 7



4
ADULTS AND COMMUNITY WELLBEING SCRUTINY COMMITTEE
11 APRIL 2018

each project becoming self-sufficient going forward.  The Committee raised 
concerns over whether this would be achievable and suggested that the MCN 
should continue to support each project to enable this to happen;

 It was confirmed that LPFT would continue to monitor the impact of the 
projects in the future and report to Lincolnshire County Council as part of 
ongoing monitoring and reporting.  It was suggested that any measurable 
outcomes from each project was included as part of the reporting process to 
enable the MCN to demonstrate the benefits of this way of working;

 It was suggested that the MCN could hold an annual awards ceremony to 
celebrate the work of the projects;

 The MCN benefited both the NHS and adult social care;
 It was highlighted that NHS England would be visiting Lincolnshire County 

Council in April 2018 and the MCN would be promoted to NHS England as 
part of their visit;

 It was noted that the Committee would be considering an item on Obesity at a 
future meeting and the Director of Strategy (LPFT) offered, to attend to 
discuss connection between mental health and obesity, should this be 
required;

 It was requested that a further update was provided to the Committee in six 
months, which would also include information on the benefits of each project 
and how LPFT would enable each project to become self-sufficient; and

 The Chairman thanked Simon Hallam (Projects Co-ordinator for Tonic Health) 
for attending the meeting.

RESOLVED

(1) That the information presented be noted.

(2) That a further update be presented to the Committee in six months.

58    SHARED LIVES SERVICES RE-PROCUREMENT

Consideration was given to a report by Carl Miller (Commercial and Procurement 
Manager – People Services) and Justin Hackney (Assistant Director – Specialist 
Adult Services), which invited the Scrutiny Committee to consider a report on the 
Shared Lives Service Re-Procurement, which was due to be considered by the 
Executive Councillor for Adult Care, Health and Children's Services between 13 and 
17 April 2018.  

It was reported that the Shared Lives services offered people an opportunity to 
receive their care and support in a family based environment.  This was often an 
alternative to residential care, or a person living independently with support.  Shared 
Lives services could also be utilised when placements with the service user's own 
family come under pressure or completely break down.

It was noted that the Council's existing contract for Shared Lives services was 
approaching its maximum duration, which coupled with the lack of growth, had 
necessitated a review of the contract scope and a re-procurement of the service in 

Page 8



5
ADULTS AND COMMUNITY WELLBEING SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

11 APRIL 2018

2018.  The report presented to the Committee provided an update on the proposed 
re-commissioning and sought approval to proceed with re-procurement.

Members were provided with an opportunity to ask questions, where the following 
points were noted:- 

 There had been extensive market engagement which started in September 
2018.  It was expected that the contract would be a three year initial term with 
an option to extend by up 2 years;

 The Committee explored the option to for the service to be brought in-house 
and the reasons for not pursuing this further were explained to the Committee;

 It was noted that paragraph 4.1.4 did not seem to align with paragraph 7 of the 
report, but it was highlighted that the issue was covered under paragraph 7.1.1 
which included reference to care, short term placements etc;

 The key parts of the process for any provider was recruiting people to provide 
the service; and ensuring referrals were made to the most appropriate 
placements;

 The benefits of expanding the service, as detailed in the report, were 
acknowledged;

 The Committee was assured that the contract arrangements would be 'future 
proofed' so that if a provider increased the contract value, any challenges 
could be avoided;

 The Committee advised that it was imperative for the contractor to be aware 
and understanding of the rurality issues in Lincolnshire.  

RESOLVED

(1) That the recommendations to the Executive Councillor, as set out in the report, 
be supported.

(2) That the comments of the Committee be presented to the Executive Councillor 
for her consideration. 

59    ADULT CARE AND COMMUNITY WELLBEING QUARTER 3 2017/18 
PERFORMANCE

Consideration was given to a report by Theo Jarratt (County Manager, Performance) 
and Sue Cecconi (Programme Officer), which presented the performance against 
Council Business Plan targets for the Directorate as at the end of Quarter 3 2017/18.  
It also continued the theme of a focused look at the performance of a function of the 
Directorate.  It was advised that in the report for quarter 3 the performance focus was 
on the health checks programme.  The programme was at the end of its current 
contract and had performed well during this time.  

Members were guided through Appendix A to the report which provided an overview 
of the Adult Care and Community Wellbeing council business plan measures.

Page 9



6
ADULTS AND COMMUNITY WELLBEING SCRUTINY COMMITTEE
11 APRIL 2018

Members were provided with the opportunity to ask questions, where the following 
points were noted: -

 It was reported that the drug and alcohol programme had seen an uplift in 
performance since switching provider;

 Collecting data on Chlamydia diagnoses per 100,000 15-24 year old was a 
government requirement, and it was also noted that the latest data was almost 
nine months old.  It was hoped that the quarter 4 data would be on target, 
following an increase in more accurately focusing on the target age range.  It 
was noted that the 15-24 year old age bracket was measured upon as this 
group saw the highest prevalence of chlamydia.  It was reiterated that this was 
a nationally set target;

 The Committee was advised that although the performance for the measure 
on the percentage of people in receipt of long term support who have been 
review in the period (adult frailty clients) was likely to increase in Quarter 4, but 
it was unlikely it would achieve its target;

 Members were advised that the drug and alcohol programme was delivered by 
Addaction Lincolnshire.  It was noted that the 40% target was based on a 
national standard;

 Concerns were raised that whilst Mosaic had been in place for a while, the 
percentage of reviews for adult frailty had not increased as previously 
expected.  In response, the Committee was advised that there was a need for 
the year end performance to be reviewed, and officers suggested that an 
update on this could be provided at a future meeting.  It was confirmed that the 
target would be reviewed by the Adult Care Executive DMT;

 SAS4 – percentage of people in receipt of long term support who have been 
reviewed in the period (learning disability, 18+ plus mental health, 18-64) - it 
was queried why the target had increased from 63% in quarter 3 to 100% by 
quarter 4.  It was noted that this would need to be taken forward as the target 
should be 95% target;

 It was commented that the delay in reporting performance in some instances 
of up to nine months made it difficult for scrutiny committees to influence 
performance.  It was therefore requested that performance information be 
made available as soon as possible and be considered by the relevant 
scrutiny committee.  It was also requested that in addition to the performance 
data, a short summary of performance for each target be provided as context 
for the reader, including any information on benchmarking; 

 The frustrations with reporting timescales were shared by officers, but all 
areas within the organisation were facing challenges with IT, which was having 
an impact on the ability to report timely performance information; 

 The main purpose of the health checks programme was enabling early 
intervention where this was required; and

 The national picture had shown that Lincolnshire continued to perform better 
than the national average for the percentage of eligible people invited for an 
NHS Health Check; and for people receiving their NHS Health Check.  It was 
noted that Lincolnshire was in the top 10% in England in terms of 
performance. 

Page 10



7
ADULTS AND COMMUNITY WELLBEING SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

11 APRIL 2018

RESOLVED

(1) That the Quarter 3 performance and the performance focus on Health Checks 
be noted.

(2) That a short summary of performance, including information on benchmarking, 
for each indicator as requested above be included in future performance 
reports.

60    NHS HEALTH CHECKS RE-PROCUREMENT

Consideration was given to a report by Carl Miller (Commercial and Procurement 
Manager – People) and Phil Garner (Health Improvement Programme Manager), 
which invited the Scrutiny Committee to consider a proposed decision on the re-
procurement of the NHS Health Checks programme, which was due to be considered 
by the Executive Councillor for Adult Care, Health and Children's Services between 
13 – 17 April 2018.

It was reported that the NHS Health Checks Programme had been procured using an 
Open Select List restricted to GP Practices in Lincolnshire.  Each GP practice on the 
list had an individual contract with the County Council.  The contracts would come to 
an end on 31 July 2018, subject to four month contract extensions being approved by 
the Executive Director for Adult Care and Community Wellbeing.

Given the statutory obligation on the Council to provide the programme, the Council 
intended to re-commission the NHS Health Checks Programme and in doing so, 
advertise the opportunity to the wider market.

Members were provided with the opportunity to ask questions, where the following 
points were noted: -

 The Committee commented that it would be beneficial if the outcomes from 
the health checks programme could be analysed to see anything further could 
be learned, for example in terms of lifestyle choices;

 The Committee was advised that the health check programme tended to avoid 
duplication, so where individuals were already in receipt of regular health 
monitoring for certain conditions, such as diabetes or a cardiovascular 
condition, they would not be invited for a health check; and   

 The re-procurement of the service was fully supported by the Committee.

RESOLVED

(1) That the recommendations to the Executive Councillor, as set out in the report, 
be supported. 

(2) That the comments of the Committee be presented to the Executive Councillor 
for her consideration. 

Page 11



8
ADULTS AND COMMUNITY WELLBEING SCRUTINY COMMITTEE
11 APRIL 2018

61    ADULTS AND COMMUNITY WELLBEING SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
WORK PROGRAMME

Consideration was given to a report by Simon Evans (Health Scrutiny Officer), which 
enabled the Committee to consider its work programme for the coming year.

During consideration of the Committee's work programme, the following suggestions 
were made: -

 An item on Obesity and Lifestyle Impacts would be added to the agenda for 
the meeting on the 4 July 2018;

 The items in relation to Community Hospitals – Making the Most of the Sites 
and Facilities and Local Government Association: High Impact Model should 
be removed from the work programme until further notice;

 It was confirmed that the meeting of the Committee scheduled for 4 July 2018 
would now be held at County Offices, Lincoln rather than in Skegness, as had 
been previously suggested.  This was owing to the Committee being unable to 
visit an extra care facility on a whole and that smaller groups of 3-4 members 
would be preferred to minimise disruption.  It was suggested that the dates on 
which the smaller visits would take place would be discussed by the 
Committee at its meeting on 30 May 2018. 

RESOLVED

That the work programme be approved, subject to the above amendments 
being made.

The meeting closed at 1.20 pm.

Page 12



       Policy and Scrutiny 
 

Open Report on behalf of Derek Ward, Director of Public Health 

 

Report to: Adults and Community Wellbeing Scrutiny Committee 

Date: 30 May 2018 

Subject: 
The 2017 Annual Report of the Director of Public 
Health for Lincolnshire 

Decision Reference:   Key decision? No   

Summary:   
 
The Annual Report of the Director of Public Health (DPH) on the Health of the 
People of Lincolnshire is an independent statutory report to Lincolnshire County 
Council.  The report raises issues of importance to the health of the population of 
Lincolnshire. 
 
 

Actions Required: 

The Adults and Community Wellbeing Scrutiny Committee is requested to receive 
the Annual Report on the Health of the People of Lincolnshire from the Interim 
Director of Public Health and consider the recommendations included in each 
chapter. 
 

 
1. Background 
 

One of the statutory duties of each local authority director of public health is to 
produce an independent report on the state of the health of the people they 
serve on an annual basis. 
 
The report is produced by the Director of Public Health and his team as a 
product which is independent of the local authority but the best of these reports 
is produced in close consultation with colleagues across the local health and 
care system. 
 
The 2017 DPH Annual Report covers two topics that are high on the agenda for 
local organisations locally:   
 

 A chapter on the case for investing in prevention in support of the 
Lincolnshire Health and Care System's need to shift investment into proven 
prevention interventions 
 

 A chapter renewing the focus on the biological and environmental threats to 
people's health and the systems in place to track these hazards and protect 
Lincolnshire people from harm. 

Page 13

Agenda Item 5



The report is commended to the Adults and Community Wellbeing Scrutiny 
Committee for consideration, debate and commissioning of any actions they 
would like to see taken forward. 

 
This report will be published electronically, and connected to the Joint Strategic 
Needs Assessment evidence warehouse as well as being presented to a range 
of NHS and local government bodies for consideration. 
 
Its recommendations to the system of health and care organisations are: 
 
1. The Sustainability and Transformation Partnership should review its 

approach to planning and investing in those areas of preventative service 
where evidence of effect is irrefutable. 
 

2. That the Clinical Commissioning Groups (CCGs) should review the 
achievement and variation in clinical outcomes for people of all ages who 
have chronic diseases and commission activity to address inequities in said 
outcomes. 
 

3. That the County and District Councils should review their strategies for 
addressing approaches to the key protective and trigger factors the 
evidence base suggests support healthier ageing. 

 
4. The Health Protection Board, Clinical Commissioning Groups (CCGs) and 

Healthcare Providers continue to innovate to promote the uptake of 
immunisation and vaccination programmes across our entire population. 

 
5. The Health Protection Board, CCGs and Healthcare Providers provide 

assurance and evidence of improvement in the uptake of immunisation and 
vaccination programmes in populations where protection is more limited, 
particularly in East Lincolnshire. 

 
2. Consultation 
 

This is not a consultation item. 
 
 

 
 

 
 

a)  Policy Proofing Actions Required n/a 
 

 

3. Background Papers - No background papers within Section 100D of the Local 
Government Act 1972 were used in the preparation of this report. 
 
4.  Appendices 

 

These are listed below and attached at the back of the report 

Appendix A Annual Report of the Director of Public Health on the 
Health of the People of Lincolnshire 2017 

 
This report was written by Tony McGinty, who can be contacted on 01522 

554229 or tony.mcginty@lincolnshire.gov.uk  
 

Page 14

mailto:tony.mcginty@lincolnshire.gov.uk


Annual Report of the 
Director of Public Health 
on the health of the people 
of Lincolnshire 2017

Page 15



2

It is my duty, and pleasure, as Interim 
Director of Public Health (DPH) for 
Lincolnshire during 2017 and early 2018 
to present an annual report on the state 
of the health of the people of Lincolnshire.

This report is as eclectic in its content as is the 
practice of public health as a local authority Public 
Health Team.  I have chosen two main areas to 
reflect on this year, for entirely different reasons.

I reflect on the environmental hazards which 
present risk to the health of our population as it 
is some time since a Lincolnshire DPH reflected 
on this key area of responsibility and because 
the magnitude of some of the risks prevalent 
internationally at the moment are truly momentous. 
The pandemic potential of new strains of common 
organisms such as influenza, some measure 
of effect we have seen in the flu season just coming 
to a close is a clear and present risk to health.  
Alongside this, our reliance on, and relatively poor 
stewardship of, established antimicrobial medicines 
is presenting significant risk to individual patients 
through infection with resistant organisms.This risk 
has more than a theoretical potential to escalate 
into a global threat from the emergence 
of organisms for which our antimicrobial 
arsenal has no effective response.

The ageing nature of the population of the United 
Kingdom is well understood and the age profile 
of people in Lincolnshire is in many ways a 
somewhat more concentrated example of 
this overall national trend.

This demographic trend is often described in health 
and care terms as a significant threat or challenge 
to the sustainability of local systems of care. 
The models of strategic planning that bind to this 
view have been referred to in research literature 
as ‘Apocalyptic Demography’. They tend to present 
ageing and worsened health and independence 
and subsequent increases in need or demand 
for care as an unavoidable scenario for which 
society and services can only prepare.

An exploration of the current associations 
between ageing, maintenance of independence 
and sustaining of good health quickly give hope 
of an alternative scenario in older age for much 
of the population. If there are significant differences 
in both lived experience and expectation in ageing 
between people living in the same communities 
already, this suggests it should be possible 
to level up expectations for everyone and 
create better separation between ageing 
and infirmity for more people.

The alternative health and care scenarios that 
could be realised by focusing on improving the 
forecast health and wellbeing of all local people 
to that somewhere near the expectations of our 
best communities are there to be achieved.

In an environment where the entire system of 
health and care is engaged in managing today’s 
demands, it is an essential role of a local Director 
of Public Health to remind the system leaders of 
the opportunities offered in prevention. My purpose 
with this Annual Report is to do just that, to put 
the argument for prevention in the context 
of potentially apocalyptic local demography.

I trust you will be stimulated by the presentation 
of some the thinking nationally and internationally 
on this most complex of issues.

Forward

Tony McGinty 
Interim Director of Public Health 
for Lincolnshire

October 2016 to January 2018

Page 16



3

• Andy Fox,
 Specialist Registrar in Public Health

• Michael Toze,
 University of Lincoln

• Saran Shantikumar,
 Public Health Registrar,

 Public Health England East Midlands

• Dr Jharna Kumbang,
 Consultant in Communicable 

Disease Control,

 Public Health England East Midlands

• Haymond Lam,
 Environmental Public Health Scientist, 

Centre for Radiation, Chemical 
and Environmental Hazards,

 Public Health England

• Graeme Hempsall,
 Emergency Planning Officer,

 Lincolnshire County Council

• Gail Beckett,
 Senior Health Protection Nurse,

 Public Health England East Midlands

• Stuart Aldridge,
 Environmental Public Health Scientist, 

Centre for Radiation, Chemical 
and Environmental Hazards,

 Public Health England

List of Contributors

Ageing and Health

Health Protection

Page 17



4

Contents

Chapter One: 
Ageing and Health:
 The Potential of Prevention 5

Chapter Two: 
Health Protection:
1. Health Protection and Communicable Disease 21

2. Tuberculosis 29

3.Healthcare Acquired Infections and Antimicrobial Resistance 32

4. Emerging Diseases 35

5. Chemical and Environmental Hazards 38

Bibliography 40

Page 18



5

The relationship between ageing and health 

The health of the ageing population of Lincolnshire is 
not significantly different to that of the health of similar 
populations in the East Midlands and England as a 
whole.  Evidence is clear that some progression 
towards poor health and greater limitations on 
physical fitness are to be expected as we age.

The prevalence of common conditions such as 
osteoarthritis and hypertension increase as we age, 
and we see significant increases in the rates at which 
people begin to suffer functional mental illness and 
cognitive impairments such as dementia. Declines 
in physical strength, fitness and balance may lead 
to increased risk of falling whilst osteoporosis may 
incline more people who do fall to suffer a joint 
or bone fracture.

Declining flexibility in our cardiovascular systems 
combined with more tendency towards hypertension 
result in an increasing incidence of stroke in older age.

Ageing generally decreases our resilience, recovery 
potential and recovery rates following an adverse 
health event or injury.

This picture of increased risk of a range of incidents 
and conditions as we advance into older age is 
problematic in itself, as people will cope differently 
with the onset of these conditions.

There is evidence, however, that a multiplier effect 
in likely loss of independence and a need for support 
to daily life activities occurs when an individual 
experiences more than one illness, or loss of faculty. 
Figure 1 provides a simple analysis of the relationship 
between the number of long term conditions 
experienced by individuals and the average 
health and social care cost of support.

In the UK currently, over 50% of people older than 65 
have at least two chronic conditions (Barnett, Mercer, 
et al 2012) (Salive, 2013). This is known as multi-
morbidity. Importantly, the health conditions that 
can contribute to multi-morbidity are varied, are not 
restricted to individual ‘diseases’, and include:

• Symptom complexes such as chronic 
pain or frailty

• Sensory impairment such as hearing or sight loss

• Ongoing conditions such as a learning disability

• Physical conditions such as diabetes

•	 Defined	mental	health	conditions	such 
as schizophrenia

• Alcohol and substance misuse (National Institute for 
Health and Care Excellence, 2016)

Figure 1 demonstrates that each condition present 
multiplies the cost of care for each individual. These 
costs are made up of a range of interventions across 
health and care. Having two or more such conditions 
increases the likelihood of hospital admissions, risk of 
mortality, likelihood of relying on multiple prescriptions, 
and risk of dependency (Kingston, Robinson, et al., 
2018) (Marengoni, Angleman, et al., 2011).

It is evident that the numbers of people who suffer from 
these conditions or who have health problems within 
a health and social care community, are higher where 
there are relatively more older people. The acceptance 
of a reasonable degree of correlation between the age 
of an individual and risk to their health is important. It is 
evident that older populations will have more health and 
support needs and will therefore consume health and 
care at a greater rate than younger populations.

This is important for the population of Lincolnshire as 
we have a higher proportion of people over the age of 
65 than the average across England and this proportion 
is expected to increase more rapidly than in other 
parts of the Country.

In 2017, the population of Lincolnshire counted 
approximately 750,000 people. Of these, some 130,000 
were over the age of 65, and this proportion is likely to 
grow. The expectation is thus for increased demand 
on the health and care in Lincolnshire in the future. 
It would be easy to translate this simply into planning 
to meet more and more complex health and care 
needs as a system response.

However, a ‘demand planning’ approach alone would 
have to presume that the increase in age profile is 
necessarily matched by growth in need for health 
and care interventions.

Ageing and Health: The Potential of Prevention

Page 19



6

Ageing, disease and disability are not inextricably linked

People do not wish to spend their older years with poor 
health or loss of independence, and given a choice 
between being treated for a condition and never having 
had that condition, most people could be expected 
to choose the latter. Having excellent health and care 
services to prevent deterioration, treat and care for 
older people in poor health is vital to support them to 
maximise the value of their remaining years of life. The 
biggest overall gain is achieved when a pathway of 
prevention is available that seeks to prevent disease 
entirely, slow or prevent its progression and support 
people to live well with illness and disability.

Setting aside discussion of the health of future older 
people, it is clear that experiencing poor health in old 
age is not inevitable from the experiences of the older 
people already living in Lincolnshire. Whilst it is true that 
the majority of people over the age of 65 in the County 
are living with a chronic condition, it is also true that a 
significant percentage are living without such 
conditions and the limitations they may impose.

In Lincolnshire, there are clear differences in the degree 
to which different groups develop illness as they age. 
As we will see, if some groups are more likely to get ill 

than others in old age, we should not consider illness 
inevitable for all. These differences in the experiences 
of groups within our existing older populations should 
instead lead us to consider the characteristics of the 
people avoiding poor health and asking how these 
characteristics may be made available to other 
older people. 

The factors, decisions and underlying conditions in 
communities which may prevent illness in old age for 
those who are approaching this time of life, or even 
those who are younger now, are evidently complex.  
However, there is plentiful evidence of effectiveness for 
interventions that will support better health as people 
go through life, with benefit to their health as they age.

This means potentially thousands of people in 
Lincolnshire who may be on pathways towards 
developing chronic conditions in later life could 
be helped to change their trajectory.

Ageing and Health: The Potential of Prevention

Figure 1:  Summation of the Relationship Between Number of Long Term Conditions and Cost of Care

Av
er

ag
e 

he
al

th
 a

nd
 s

oc
ia

l c
ar

e 
co

st
 p

er
 p

er
so

n/
ye

ar

None

Source: Department of Health Analysis

Number of longterm conditions

One Two Three +

£9,000

£8,000

£7,000

£6,000

£5,000

£4,000

£3,000

£2,000

£1,000

£0

Page 20



7

Longer life, better health, or both?

Although the last 40 years has seen continuous growth 
in life expectancy in Lincolnshire, not all of these 
extra years are always spent in good health. Figure 2 
shows us the trend over the last 5 years of available 
data for healthy life expectancy and life expectancy in 
Lincolnshire. We can see that in this time period, life 
expectancy has continued to slowly increase whilst 
healthy life expectancy has actually decreased slightly.

In Lincolnshire in recent years then, the gap between 
healthy life expectancy and life expectancy has widened 

i.e. on average, people are spending more years 
in ill health as their life expectancy increases.

Whilst data for Lincolnshire is relatively small in number 
to draw major policy conclusions from, the trend 
described is matched when the much larger data 
sets at East Midlands and England level are subject 
to the same analysis.  There is even some evidence 
starting to emerge that this loss of healthy life 
expectancy is soon to be followed by the first 
reduction in overall life expectancy.

Ageing and Health: The Potential of Prevention

Figure 2: Health Life Expectancy (HLE) and Life Expectancy (LE) in Lincolnshire, 2009-11 to 2014-16

Source: (Public Health England, undated)

HLE Female HLE Male LE Female LE Male

85

80

75

70

65

60

55
2009-11 2010-12 2011-13 2012-14 2013-15 2014-16

Page 21



8

What does ‘poor health’ or ‘multi-morbidity’ look like? 

It would help at this point to understand exactly which 
conditions contribute to poor health in old age, or ‘multi-
morbidity’ as it is also known. Table 1 lists many of the 
conditions which affect people in old age, along with the 
percentage of people over the age of 65 in the UK who 
we would expect to be living with this condition. 

Although these conditions are prevalent in the current 
population of over 65s in both the UK and Lincolnshire, 
they are unevenly distributed, with some populations 

aged over 65 years experiencing far higher rates of 
these conditions than others.  It is well documented in 
the evidence base, that it is not inevitable that people 
will develop these conditions as their risks increase due 
to ageing.  Across these conditions, and their increasing 
risk over time, the highest impact causes, and cause 
of the causes, could be described as in Figure 3.

Ageing and Health: The Potential of Prevention

Table 1: Prevalence of key conditions in UK over 65 population

(Source: Kingston, Robinson, et al., 2018)

Condition %

Hypertension 49.0%

Arthritis 48.6%

Coronary Heart Disease 18.3%

Respiratory 18.0%

Diabetes 14.7%

Cancer 12.6%

Hearing Impairment 12.4%

Stroke 7.5%

Dementia 6.8%

Visual Impairment 6.2%

Cognitive Impairment (Not Dementia) 2.7%

Depression 2.3%

Page 22



9

Source:  Public Health England, 2015 a

Tobacco smoking (including second-hand smoke)
High blood pressure

High body-mass index
Physical inactivity and low physical activity

Alcohol use
Diet low in fruits

High total cholesterol
Diet low in nuts and seeds

High fasting plasma glucose
Diet low in sodium

Drug use
Ambient particulate matter pollution

Diet low in vegetables
Diet high in processed meat

Diet low in seafood omega-3 fatty acids
Diet low in fibre

Occupational low back pain
Diet low in whole grains

Diet low in polyunsaturated fatty acids
Lead exposure

-1 0 2 4 6 8 10 12

Disability-adjusted life-years (%)

The Global Burden
of Disease Risk Factors

HIV/AIDS and tuberculosis
Diarrhoea, lower respiratory
infections, and other common
infectious diseases
Neglected tropical diseases
and malaria
Maternal disorders
Neonatal disorders
Nutritional deficiencies
Other communicable diseases
Transport injuries
Unintentional injuries
Intentional injuries

Cancer
Cardiovascular and
circulatory diseases
Chronic respiratory diseases
Cirrhosis
Digestive diseases
Neurological disorders
Mental and behaviorual
disorders
Diabetes, urogenital, blood,
and endocrine
Musculoskeletal disorders
Other non-communicable
diseases

Figure 3: The Gl obal Burden of Disease Risk Factors

Ageing and Health: The Potential of Prevention

There is also plentiful evidence that even once these 
conditions are present, the impact and outcomes for 
people can be managed through eff ective self and 
professional management of the conditions. The most 
eff ective interventions at this stage of chronic condition 
often include addressing the factors in Figure 3.

This gereralised model can be supplemented for specifi c 
disease types, like cardiovascular disease,
as summarised in Figure 4.

The magnitude of the overall eff ect on people’s health 
experiences of the eff ective implementation of these 
interventions as they age is described later in the report.

Figure 4: Cardiovascular disease prevention – individual and population interventions

Source: Public Health England: 2016 b

A quarter of men and 
women are obese. Many 

more are overweight

Marked increase in risk of 
heart attack, stroke, PVD, 

dementia

Alcohol ExcessPoor DietOverweight/Obesity Physical Activity Smoking

Marked increase in risk of 
hypertension, heart 

attack, stroke

A third of men and 
almost half of women are 

underactive

Smoking causes 14% of 
CVD-related deaths

Poor diet is lead cause of 
early death and disability, 

much through CVD 

Weight reduction 
significantly reduces 

incidence of CVD

Being physically active 
reduces risk of CVD

by a third

Over 65% - excess salt & 
saturated fat and most 

have low fruit/veg intake

20% of adults smoke – 
over 30% in deprived 

communities

10.8 million men and 
women drink alcohol

at harmful levels

Safe drinking substantially 
lowers risk of CVD

Primary Prevention: Individual and Cumulative Impact of Multiple Risks

The
Opportun ities 

The Evidence

Outcomes

Brief interventions 
and referral in 
primary care

Brief interventions 
and referral in 
other settings

Community wellbeing 
services/social 
prescribing etc

NHS Health Check
NHS Diabetes 

Prevention Prog

The Risk 
Factors

Cardiovascular Disease Prevention: Individual and Population Interventions

Local behaviour change support services – eg Smoking cessation
Weight management
Physical activity
Alcohol

Planning, licensing, 
marketing, active 
transport, healthy 

workplace, schools etc

Political, 
legislative, 
commercial 

partnership etc

Place-based 
population  

interventions
Cross-cutting
Interventions  

Marked increase in risk of 
type 2 DM, hypertension, 

heart attack, stroke

Marked increase in risk of 
type 2 DM, hypertension, 

heart attack, stroke

Marked increase in risk of 
type 2 DM, hypertension, 

heart attack, stroke

National action 
& population 
interventions

Additional impact of these risk factors on early death and disability from wide range of physical and mental health conditions

Page 23



10

Protective factors, risk factors and triggers

To give best effect to preventative approaches to ageing, 
it is important to ensure that evidence based general 
preventative interventions at population scale (Figure 
2) and the best possible disease specific interventions 
(Figure 3) are in place.

The evidence base on healthy ageing is clear, however, 
achieving these goals alone for a population like 
Lincolnshire’s will not maximise the outcomes for 
ageing adults at risk of poorer health experiences.

There is significant evidence that some declines into 
poor health; loss of independence or control of existing 
conditions can be exacerbated or triggered by an 
event such as having to change accommodation; a 
bereavement or an injury from something like a fall. 

Discussions of later life housing can have a tendency 
to focus on specialist accommodation such as care 
homes, sheltered and extra care housing.  However, 
93% of people aged over 65 years live in mainstream 
housing and many would seek to remain there for 
as long as is practical (Keenan, 2010; Pannell et al., 
2012).  The translation of this desire for older people 
(and perhaps for housing, health and care strategists) 
requires a broader conceptual view which might be 
described as ‘ageing in place’ (Wiles et al., 2012; Van 
Disk et al., 2014) and needs to include factors such as: 
perception of the area; quality of local amenities and 
transport links.  It is clear, however, that an effective 
approach to housing for older people is an important 

factor in protecting people from decline into illness and 
disability as they age.

In Lincolnshire, only 48% of adult social care users say 
that they get as much social contact as they would like 
(Public Health England), and being lonely and cut off 
from family and friends is known to increase the risk of 
frailty by 85% (Gale, Westbury, et al., 2017). 
It is important in this context to accept the subjective 
experiences of people being alone and experiencing 
loneliness.  Victor, Scrambling, et al. (2005) found 
that in a nationally representative sample of people 
aged over 65, whilst 61% described themselves as 
never lonely and 2% as always lonely, there was no 
correlation between these feelings and contact with 
family or friends.  The issue is rather more to do with 
psychological and social functioning in the place where 
people live. The evidence base suggests a need to 
incorporate explicit assessments with individuals to 
properly understand this risk factor for poor health 
and demand on services is the only way to ensure the 
complex subjective experiences of people are catered 
for (Victor and Bowling,  2012).

Having a fall can be a minor inconvenience but for some 
it can have serious consequences. In Lincolnshire during 
2015/16, there were over 2,800 hospital admissions for 
people aged over 65 due to a fall.  Falls can cause injury 
but they are also linked to social isolation. (Public Health 
England, Undated)

Why is poor health not inevitable?

There are groups of people in Lincolnshire who have 
far better health than others. The evidence shows that 
people from the higher socio-economic groups, i.e. 
those people who are relatively better off than others, 
have much better health in old age than their peers 
with less resources. 

To observe this from known intelligence sources, 
Figure 5 shows that in England, the tenth of the 

population with the highest socio-economic status 
can expect to live almost twenty years longer in good 
health that the tenth of the population who are the most 
deprived. This demonstrates that an unhealthy old age, 
with multi-morbidity, is not inevitable but can be linked 
to influencable factors such as our resources, our 
lifestyle, our opportunities, and our environment.

Ageing and Health: The Potential of Prevention

Page 24



11

As an example of this for one of the trigger factors 
described above, Figure 6 shows the rate of hospital 
admissions due to falls in England by ‘deprivation 
decile’. This shows that the tenth of the population 
of Lincolnshire who have the highest socio-economic 

status are approximately a third less likely to have 
a fall that results in a hospital admission than the most 
deprived tenth of the population. Importantly, this 
difference is statistically significant, which means that 
it is very unlikely to have happened by chance. 

Most deprived decile

Second most deprived decile

Third most deprived decile

Fourth most deprived decile

Fifth most deprived decile

Fifth least deprived decile

Fourth least deprived decile

Third least deprived decile

Second least deprived decile

Least deprived decile

51.9

56.9

59.3

61.4

63.8

65.2

66.9

67.5

68.4

70.6

England Average

Years

0 10 20 30 40 50 60 70 80

0.1i - Healthy life expectancy at birth (Male) - England, 2013 - 15 - Data partitioned by LSOA11
deprivation deciles within area (IMD2015)

Figure 5:  Healthy life expectancy at birth (for men) by deprivation decile

Figure 6:  Hospital admissions due to falls by deprivation decile

Source: (Public Health England, undated)

Source: (Public Health England, undated)

Most deprived decile (IMD2015)

Second most deprived decile (IMD2015)

Third most deprived decile (IMD2015)

Fourth most deprived decile (IMD2015)

Fifth most deprived decile (IMD2015)

Fifth least deprived decile (IMD2015)

Fourth least deprived decile (IMD2015)

Third least deprived decile (IMD2015)

Second least deprived decile (IMD2015)

Least deprived decile (IMD2015)

England Average

Per 100,000

0 200 400 600 800 1000 1200 1400 1600

2.24i - Emergency hospital admissions due to falls in people aged 65 and over - aged 65-79 (persons) - England, 2015/16 -
Data partitioned by County & UA deprivation deciles in England (IMD2015)

Ageing and Health: The Potential of Prevention

Page 25



12

The potential of prevention

If poor health in older age is not inevitable, but is 
influenced by many things, including lifestyle and  
environment, it follows that if we make changes to these 
things, we could prevent some of this expected disease. 

Much academic work has been completed to study just 
how amenable to preventative interventions some of 
these conditions are, and we can summarise samples 
of the available evidence here.

Physical activity for better older health

Behavioural and lifestyle interventions, such as meeting 
the recommended level of physical activity for adults, 
can have a major preventative effect on a number of 
conditions that contribute towards frailty and ill-health 
in older age. Consequently they have potential to reduce 

the degree of ill-health faced by the population of 
Lincolnshire, as well as easing the pressure on the health 
and social care system and the local economy. Table 2 
below lists potential reduction in lifetime risk if individuals 
maintain the recommended level of physical activity.

If we apply these lifetime risk figures to the current 
population of Lincolnshire, we get a glimpse of the huge 
potential in preventative interventions. Lincolnshire’s 
population is estimated to be approximately 750,000 
people – 70% of whom would normally be expected 
to develop hypertension (high blood pressure) at some 
point in their life. If everyone remained physically active, 
we could expect this percentage to be halved. 

To put that into context, we would expect hundreds 
of thousands of people to be spared having to deal with 
high blood pressure, and a corresponding reduction 
in ill-health in old age. Importantly, this is just from the 
benefits of staying physically active  and other important 
preventative interventions like maintaining a healthy diet, 
and staying socially connected rather than isolated may 
add to the effect.

Ageing and Health: The Potential of Prevention

Table 2:  UK lifetime risk for key conditions and the effect of maintaining physical activity

(Source, Public Health England, undated) (ONS, 2017)

Condition UK lifetime 
Risk

Reduction due to 
physical activity

Lifetime risk 
for physically 

active

Hypertension 70% 50% 35.0%

Osteoporosis 50% 40% 30.0%

Stroke Incidence 17% 30% 11.9%

Arthritis 14% 50% 7.0%

Dementia 13% 30% 9.1%

T2 Diabetes 10% 50% 5.0%

Page 26



13

Stroke Admissions with 
Known AF  (2014-15)

Number of Undiagnosed 
AF Patients (observed 

to expected)

Lincolnshire West CCG 87 
(31.6%)

2006 
(67%)

Lincolnshire East CCG 80 
(20%)

2330 
(71%)

South Lincolnshire CCG 62 
(27.8%)

1449 
(70%)

South West Lincolnshire CCG 20 
(20.8%)

1092 
(72%)

Strength and balance for older age

It is known that strength and balance training (a physical 
activity intervention for older people) can reduce the risk 
of falling by up to 29% (Public Health England, 2017a). 
Consequently, we could expect to prevent one fall for 
every 4 people who engaged in such training. There is a 
considerable economic benefit to be had for the health 
system from preventing falls, as each fall that results in 
a hospital admission has been estimated to cost the 

NHS £5,000 (The Chartered Society of Physiotherapy, 
undated).  There may well be further cost savings to the 
health and social care system if injury is prevented, as 
well as wider costs to the economy. The total cost of 
fragility fractures to the UK economy has been estimated 
at £4.4bn, which includes £1.1bn of social care costs. 
Hip fractures are estimated to make up nearly half of this 
total cost (Public Health England, 2017a).

Stroke

Stroke is the fourth single cause of mortality in the 
UK and can lead to many complications. The risk of 
having a stroke doubles every decade after the age of 
55.   There are a wide range of risk factors for stroke, 
which includes lifestyle (e.g. smoking and alcohol use) 
and having conditions such as hypertension and atrial 
fibrillation (AF) (National Institute for Care and Excellence, 
2017).  Some of the high impact interventions in Table 3 
will contribute to stroke prevention.  

The risk of stroke increases five-fold for people with 
AF(Stroke Association, 2018a) (an ineffective heart 
beat in part of the heart muscle). The prevalence of AF 
increases with age (the prevalence in those over 65 

years being 7.2 per cent, compared with 10% in over 
75 years).  In people who have had a stroke, concurrent 
AF is associated with a higher rate of mortality and 
greater disability.  Approximately 60 per cent of people 
admitted to a hospital with a stroke caused by AF 
are not taking the recommended anti-coagulants. It is 
estimated that two thirds of AF related strokes can 
be avoided (Stroke Association, 2018b).

The East Midlands Clinical Network Networks (2018), 
has identified the number of patients in each Lincolnshire 
CCG who could have undiagnosed AF and those high 
risk AF patients who are not on anticoagulation (Table 3).

Ageing and Health: The Potential of Prevention

Table 3: CVD Prevention – Atrial fibrillation

(Source: East Midlands Clinical Senate Networks, 2018)

Page 27



14

16000

14000

12000

10000

8000

6000

4000

2000

N
um

be
r o

f P
eo

pl
e 

w
ith

 C
on

di
tio

n

20
15

20
16

20
17

20
18

20
19

20
20

20
21

20
22

20
23

20
24

20
25

20
26

20
27

20
28

20
29

20
30

20
31

20
32

20
33

20
34

20
35

Scenario 1 Scenario 2 2015 level

Healthcare professionals are continuing to ensure that 
people identified with AF are appropriately managed 
to reduce their risk of having a stroke. In 2016/17, the 
AF prevalence for all ages was 2.45%, representing 
nearly 19,000 people. The NHS Right Care Programme 
(NHS England, 2018) Stroke Pathway identifies 

where Lincolnshire Clinnical Commissioning Groups 
(CCGs) are in relation to their ‘similar’ CCGs on a 
number of indicators, including stroke prevalence and 
anticoagulation therapy. This includes a number of 
opportunities, for example increasing the AF found 
closer to the prevalence expected in our population

Do the same or Do prevention? A comparison to 2035

In order to quantify better just how much potential there 
is in prevention, we can compare two possible options:  
the “do the same” option, and the “do prevention” 
option, and we can factor in the expected growth in 
Lincolnshire’s population, as well as the projected 
change in the prevalence of these conditions over time.

By 2035, Lincolnshire’s population is expected to grow 
to over 820,000 people, and the population aged 

over 65 to over 243,000 (Office of National Statistics, 
2017). We can also consider likely changes in disease 
prevalence, and use these to map the expected 
changes in the numbers in Lincolnshire with conditions 
that contribute to poor health in older age, all the way 
through to 2035 (Kingston, Robinson, et al., 2018).

What happens if we do the same?

If we do no more than we are doing now, the numbers 
of people living in Lincolnshire who have poor health 
in old age will increase in line with people’s current 
experiences. If the proportion of people who have 
health conditions or impairments remains the same, the 
number of people living with these conditions will rise 
broadly in line with population growth. If the prevalence 
of these conditions increases as well (as is expected for 

some conditions), the number of people in Lincolnshire 
with these conditions may rise even further than 
suggested by ageing alone.

Labelling the population growth only scenario ‘scenario 
1’ and the population growth and prevalence change 
scenario ‘ scenario 2’, in Figures 7, 8, and 9 show 
projections for some key conditions.

Figure 7:  Projected growth in numbers of people in Lincolnshire with Arthritis, 2015 to 2035

(Source, Public Health England, undated) (ONS, 2017)

Ageing and Health: The Potential of Prevention

Page 28



15

2000
1800
1600
1400
1200
1000

800
600
400
200

0

N
um

be
r o

f P
eo

pl
e 

w
ith

 C
on

di
tio

n

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21

Scenario 1 Scenario 2 2015 level

14000

12000

10000

8000

6000

4000

2000

0

N
um

be
r o

f P
eo

pl
e 

w
ith

 C
on

di
tio

n

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21

Scenario 1 Scenario 2 2015 level

What we can clearly see from these projections is that 
if we do nothing, the number of people with poor health 
in older age in Lincolnshire will increase significantly. 
For example, the number of people with dementia could 
be expected to increase by 80% or more by 2035. 

Additionally, the number of people who have a fall 
resulting in a hospital admission in Lincolnshire would 

be expected to roughly double, to over 4000, by 
2035. The cost to the NHS in Lincolnshire of these 
extra falls alone would equate to over £10m. The cost 
to the individuals, in terms of ill health and potential 
consequences such as loss of independence, would 
be far more significant.

Figure 8:  Projected growth in numbers of people in Lincolnshire with Dementia, 2015 to 2035

Figure 9:  Projected growth in numbers of people in Lincolnshire with Hypertension, 2015 to 2035

(Source, Public Health England, undated) (ONS, 2017)

(Source, Public Health England, undated) (ONS, 2017)

Ageing and Health: The Potential of Prevention

Page 29



16

Table 4: Modelled reductions in key conditions following increase of 20% of over 65s becoming physically active.

(Source, Public Health England, undated) (ONS, 2017)

What happens if we “do prevention”?  Physical activity

Currently, the proportion of adults meeting 
recommended levels of physical activity in Lincolnshire 
is estimated at 65% (Public Health England, undated), 
although the prevalence of older people (over 75) who 
are active is thought to drop to 30% (British Heart 
Foundation, 2015). As Table 2 demonstrates, meeting 

the recommend levels of physical activity equates to a 
significant reduction in lifetime risk for many conditions 
which affect older people. Table 4 details how a relatively 
modest increase in the proportion (just 20%) of 65s 
being physically active could affect the prevalence 
of key conditions in Lincolnshire.

Condition
Over 65s expected 
to have condition 

in 2017

“Do Nothing” - Over 65s 
expected to have 
condition in 2035

“Do Prevention” –potential 
people with prevented 
disease if further 20% 

are active
Arthritis 88,658 159,961 3,414

Hypertension 87,335 136,308 17,069

T2 Diabetes 27,360 52,670 2,438

Stroke 13,471 22,677 5,803

Dementia 12,183 20,727 4,438

The reductions in prevalence of key older age conditions 
available if an additional 20% of over 65s became 
physically active are significant, with an estimated 
reduction of 17,000 cases possible in hypertension 

alone. Further increases in the proportion of older people 
who were active would further reduce the risk and 
increase the numbers of people who benefit from this 
change of lifestyle.

Strength and balance for older age

As a further example, it has been shown that home-
based strength and balance training can reduce the 
rate of falling in people participating by 29% (Public 
Health England, 2017a). If we apply these figures to 
the expected level of falls in 2035, we can see just how 

many it is possible to prevent. Table 5 below gives these 
results, for this intervention as well as group-based 
training, and home assessment and modifications, 
and compares this to the ‘do nothing’ option.

Ageing and Health: The Potential of Prevention

Page 30



17

Table 5:  Falls interventions & projected reduction in emergency admissions due to falls in 2035

(Source, Public Health England, undated) (ONS, 2017)

This case for this type of falls prevention intervention 
is clear, demonstrating that over 1,200 emergency 
admissions could be prevented in Lincolnshire in 2035, 
taking into account expected prevalence changes and 
population growth. The potential 29% reduction in the 
number of falls isavailable every year, and the cumulative 

number of prevented falls could be as high as 25,000 
over the 19 years modelled above. The economic case 
for action is clear as the potential cost to the NHS of 
implementing just one intervention proven to prevent falls  
(emergency hospital admissions) could be reduced by 
over £125m between 2017 and 2035.

Falls Prevention 
Intervention

Emergency 
hospital 

admissions due 
to falls expected 

in 2017

Emergency 
hospital 

admissions due 
to falls expected 

in 2035

Emergency 
hospital 

admissions 
prevented

Do Nothing 2,860 4,007 0
Strength & Balance 

Training - Group 
Therapy

2,068 2,845 1,162

Strength & Balance 
Training - Home 

Therapy

1,981 2,725 1,282

Home Assessment 
&  Modification

2,359 3,246 761

Ageing and Health: The Potential of Prevention

Page 31



18

The age profile and predictions of changes in the overall 
proportions of our population in different age groups in 
Lincolnshire make it a place which might be described 
as having an ‘Apocalyptic Demography’.

‘Apocalyptic Demography’ is a term used by social 
ageing experts to describe how statistics can be used 
to suggest that ageing is a significant threat to public 
services and the economy (Robertson,1997; Gee, 
2000).  The primary nature of the risk described in the 
models that describe this is that, in a given population, 
the balance between the people who need support and 
the people able to provide it reaches a critical point.

In the case of our ageing population, this might be 
expressed as the ratio between older people in need 
of support and younger people in a position to provide 
support.  This support might be physical in terms of 
family and carer support or economic activity like paying 
care fees or taxes to enable others to provide or fund 
support to older people.

A commonly used ratio of this type is the Old Age 
Dependency Ratio (OADR) and it is generated by 
simply dividing the number of people aged over 65 by 
the number of people aged 19-64 years. This ratio is, 
perhaps a deliberately simplified example of the problem 
with analyses which assert a generalised relationship 
between an easily measurable characteristic of a 
population (like their age at last birthday) and the whole 
of the population with that characteristic.

The OADR assumes, for example, that all people aged 
over 65 need support and all people aged 19-64 years 
are able to give support in the ways described above.

This clearly is not the case and different individuals and 
communities will be engaged in very different activities 
and have a range of different capabilities at the same 
age.  It is clear, for example, that the rate at which 
different socio-economic groups of older people in a 
population who will be working will vary, with varying 
impacts on their health.

The apocalyptic demographic view of the UK and 
Lincolnshire populations that is prevalent in most 
planning models for health and care are often described 
as a given unless something is done to offset the tipping 
point in the ratio between those requiring care and 
support and those supplying it.

As differences in the disability and disease rates 
between different parts of the population, with different 
protective and preventative factors in play are evident, 
then it is clear that the likelihood of poor health 
in ageing is not immutable.

Finding the space and resources to invest in prevention 
activities at sufficient scale to make the return evident 
in the sustainability of a complex health and care 
system is challenging.

However, the evidence for doing so for now and the 
future for the benefit of our current and future older 
population is overwhelming.  I therefore 
recommend that:

1. The Sustainability and Transformation Partnership 
should review its approach to planning and investing 
in those areas of preventative service where 
evidence	of	effect	is	irrefutable.

2. That the Clinical Commissioning Groups (CCGs) 
should review the achievement and variation in 
clinical outcomes for people of all ages who have 
chronic diseases and commission activity to address 
inequities in said outcomes.

3. That the County and District Councils should review 
their strategies for addressing approaches to the 
key protective and trigger factors the evidence base 
suggests support healthier ageing.

Conclusions and Recommendations

Page 32



19

1. Health Protection and Communicable Disease

What is Health Protection?

The protection of the health of the population from 
known hazards, and the monitoring of health to identify 
emerging hazards, are cornerstones of public health. 
Health protection aims to prevent or minimise the 
harm caused by infectious (or “communicable”) 
diseases, as well as diminish the health impacts 
of non-infectious hazards, such as extreme 
weather and chemical exposures.

Communicable disease and environmental hazards 
can affect anyone and everyone, be that influenza 
or flooding. Reacting promptly and systematically 
to emerging incidents, and proactively monitoring 
and planning for future threats to public health, are 
crucial in protecting the people of Lincolnshire and 
beyond. Being vigilant and actively addressing issues 
in health protection is also of vital importance in 
reducing health inequalities. For example, we know 
that many communicable diseases are associated with 
socioeconomic disadvantage (Semenza, Suk, et.al. 
2010). Some communities are also more vulnerable 
to health protection hazards, including children and 
the homeless (World Health Organisation, 2010) 
(Sommer, Grieber, et. al, 2010).

Specialist health protection functions are provided 
by Public Health England (PHE), which has a Health 
Protection Team dedicated to Lincolnshire who manage 

a wide range of incidents, disease outbreaks and wider 
health protection issues. Additional support for health 
protection is provided by the four Lincolnshire Clinical 
Commissioning Groups (CCGs) (in particular, their 
federated Health Protection Team) and the Director 
of Public Health, who supports and provides local 
leadership for the local authority responses to incidents. 
The Centre for Radiation, Chemicals and Environmental 
Hazards (CRCE), also part of PHE, provide expert input 
in the management of chemical and environmental 
incidents. There are many national organisations that 
contribute to local-level health protection. For example, 
the Animal and Plant Health Agency (APHA) identify 
and control disease in animals and plants. The strong 
working relationships between local partners contributes 
to the success we continue to achieve in protecting 
health in Lincolnshire.

In this chapter, the main contemporary and emerging 
hazards faced by local people are described, along 
with the roles and activities of the Lincolnshire Health 
Protection Teams, and their partners, using recent 
examples to highlight how the population’s health 
is protected in practice.

Communicable Disease

Much of the work done by the PHE Health Protection 
Team is based on individual cases, wider situations 
and incidents, or enquiries related predominantly to 
communicable disease. “Cases” are individuals with, 
or potentially with, a condition of relevance to health 
protection. Many of these cases are referred to the 
Health Protection Team by healthcare professionals 
who have a statutory duty to notify them of people 
suspected to have one of a list of 32 conditions, such 
as food poisoning, tuberculosis (TB), measles and 
meningitis (Public Health England, 2010). Situations are 
circumstances which either result in linked cases (such 
as an outbreak of food poisoning in a care home), or 
which may result in cases and thus require monitoring 

(such as infectious contamination of a water supply line). 
Enquiries are received from a wide variety of sources, 
including hospitals, GP practices and the general public.

In 2016, the Health Protection Team managed 2248 
individual cases of communicable disease in the county, 
for example advising people how to limit spreading an 
infectious disease, or providing vaccinations for those 
in contact with an infection to reduce the risk of 
transmission. They also responded to 309 enquiries, 
and dealt with 163 situations. These annual figures 
are fairly typical, with the numbers of cases, situations 
and enquiries remaining largely stable over the last 
few years (Figure 1).

Page 33



20

2800

2400

2000

1600

2014

N
um

ber or situations
and enquiries

2015 2016

2016

2248

163

309

Cases

Enquiries

Situations

Figure 1: Summary of workload directed towards the PHE Health Protection Team from Lincolnshire 
in 2016, and trends over 2014-16.

.  (Source: Data from HPZone)

1. Health Protection and Communicable Disease

Summary of key communicable disease hazards

Food poisoning, which incorporates a variety of causes, 
encompasses over a third of cases dealt with. Other 
common cases include scarlet fever and hepatitis, as 
well as the vaccine-preventable conditions mumps and 
whooping cough. There were 13 declared incidents 
in relation to TB infection in Lincolnshire in 2016 – a 
disproportionately high number compared to areas of 
the country such as Leicester which have a much higher 
number of individual cases of TB.  As well as outbreaks 

of other infections, additional situations managed 
included potential exposure to chemicals, assessment 
of public health implications in relation to a decomposing 
whale carcass on the Lincolnshire coast, and localised 
water supply contamination. Here, some of the most 
common and important health protection hazards in 
relation to communicable disease are discussed. 
Other communicable disease hazards are 
described later on in this report.

Page 34



21

Viral Gastroenteritis and Food Poisoning

Of the 163 situations dealt with in 2016, 100 were 
outbreaks of gastroenteritis, and the number of such 
outbreaks has increased over the last three years. 
The majority of gastroenteritis outbreaks were due to 
suspected norovirus. Norovirus – also known as the 
winter vomiting bug – is a highly contagious viral disease 
that causes diarrhoea, vomiting and abdominal pain. 
It can be transmitted from person to person by ingesting 
contaminated food or water, as well as through the 
air or by touching contaminated surfaces. Symptoms 
can begin as little as 12 hours after exposure, and 
can last a few days. The elderly and the very young 
are at particular risk of dehydration. Because it is so 
contagious, cases in close settings frequently result in 
outbreaks, such as in care homes, childcare settings, 
restaurants and hospitals. Prevention of norovirus 
involves decontamination of surfaces and careful 
handwashing with soap and water, as alcohol-based 
disinfection gels are far less effective at eliminating 
the virus.

Food poisoning describes any illness that results from 
the ingestion of contaminated food, and it affects around 
a quarter of the UK population every year. Whilst food 

poisoning frequently results in diarrhoea and vomiting, 
there are many possible bugs that can cause it, 
including salmonella, campylobacter and E.coli O157, 
as well as norovirus. Although food poisoning is usually 
self-limiting, the resulting absences from school and 
work have been estimated to cost the UK economy 
over £1.5 billion annually (Food Standards Agency, 
2011). All cases of suspected food poisoning should 
be notified to PHE, and in Lincolnshire in 2016 there 
were over 600 cases of Campylobacter, almost 100 
of Salmonella and 10 of E.coli O157 infection. The 
numbers of Campylobacter infections have been 
steadily reducing over the last three years, whilst the 
annual numbers of cases of the other infections have 
remained stable. By working in close partnership with 
Environmental Health Officers (EHOs) in local councils, 
the potential sources of food poisoning can be identified 
and eliminated. EHOs also play a crucial role in 
assessing, monitoring and implementing safety practices 
in premises that sell and serve food, helping minimise 
the risk of food poisoning to the local population.

Hepatitis A

Hepatitis A – a virus that causes inflammation of the liver 
– is a relatively uncommon infection in the UK that 
is also spread by ingesting contaminated food or 
drinking water. Symptoms include abdominal pain, fever 
and jaundice, and these can be severe, lasting weeks 
or months. However, because hepatitis A is infectious for 
around two weeks before symptoms begin, and younger 

children frequently do not have any symptoms, there 
is a risk of inadvertent transmission within households 
and the community. Hepatitis A has increasingly been 
the focus of disease outbreaks internationally, with three 
multi-country outbreaks being reported across Europe 
in 2016/17, affecting over 1000 people across 19 
European countries.

1. Health Protection and Communicable Disease

Page 35



22

Case Study – Hepatitis A Outbreak

In 2016, the Health Protection Team dealt with a cluster 
of cases of hepatitis A infection affecting people in 6 
households in a single postcode area of Lincolnshire. 
By actively testing household members of the cases for 
infection, it was determined that some children did have 
hepatitis A infection without symptoms. In addition, 

by identifying factors in common between the 
households, it was found that some of the families 
affected were known to each other. Furthermore, 
there were two primary school sites in common 
between the affected children (Figure 2).

Based on this intelligence, several additional 
measures were taken in response to this outbreak. 
The Lincolnshire Health Protection Team led and co-
ordinated the response while Environmental Health 
Officers from the local authority visited the two identified 
school sites to reinforce hand hygiene measures and 
suggest additional measures to minimise the risk of 
spread. Following advice from national experts at PHE, 
to actively reduce the risk of disease transmission in the 
two school settings, all children and staff were offered 
vaccination and were tested for infection using salivary 
swab tests. Following the receipt of consent, each 
individual was assessed on site by a local GP as safe 

to receive the vaccine. The South Lincolnshire Clinical 
Commissioning Group (CCG) Health Protection Team 
were responsible for finding sufficient doses of the 
vaccine and for identifying healthcare staff to perform 
the vaccinations and salivary swabbing. In total, 681 
children and 121 adults from the two school sites were 
vaccinated. Close contacts of those with confirmed 
hepatitis A were vaccinated by the GP practices. 

Following these measures, there were no new linked 
cases of hepatitis A infection in the area. This outbreak 
was contained and managed successfully largely due to 
strong partnership working on a local and national level, 
along with a proactive vaccination strategy.

School site

Affected household

Primary school

Nursery / playgroup

Link through school

Link through household

4 5 6
2 3

1

4 5 6
2 3

1

4 5 6
2 3

1

Figure 2:  The links between affected households in the 2016 Lincolnshire Hepatitis A outbreak

1. Health Protection and Communicable Disease

Page 36



23

Influenza

Influenza (or “the ‘flu”) is an infectious disease caused 
by contagious influenza viruses, which are spread 
through the air by coughs or sneezes. Symptoms most 
commonly include a fever, sore throat, runny nose, 
headache, muscle ache and tiredness, and frequently 
last up to a week. Outbreaks of influenza can also occur 
in close settings, such as care homes, most frequently 
in the winter (Gallagher, Johnston, et. al. 2017). Whilst 
disease is usually self-limiting, it is potentially fatal in the 
very young, the elderly and in those with chronic health 
problems (Centres for Disease Control and Prevention, 
2018). Vaccination is the best defence against flu. For 
people in defined high-risk groups (such as pregnant 

women and young children), and for those working in 
health and social care settings, influenza vaccinations 
are recommended by the World Health Organisation. 
There are many strains of influenza viruses, and they 
have the ability to evolve rapidly. For this reason, new 
vaccinations are developed annually based on which 
strains of the virus are most likely to be circulating in the 
forthcoming year. For those that require vaccination, it is 
therefore imperative that these are received every year, 
to provide maximum protection. There were just over 
100 cases of influenza in Lincolnshire in 2016, with two 
outbreaks of influenza-like illness in care homes.

Case Study – Avian Influenza

Avian influenza (or “bird flu”) is caused by influenza 
viruses that infect wild and domestic birds. Some forms 
of the virus can affect humans – such as the H5N1 bird 
flu virus reported in 1997 – with symptoms including 
a high fever, cough, muscle aches, chest pain and 
diarrhoea.  Avian flu is particularly relevant to Lincolnshire 
given the high density of poultry farms in the county. 
One particular strain of avian flu, known as H5N8, was 
described in 2008 and was first seen in the UK in 2014. 
Over the winter in 2016/17, 4 outbreaks of H5N8 avian 
flu were reported in flocks in Lincolnshire. Although avian 
influenza has the ability to cause disease in humans, 
there have been no reported cases from the H5N8 
strain. However, there is the possibility that this strain 
could mutate and become infective in humans. Because 
of this potential risk of transmission to humans, a prompt 
and thorough Public Health response was required to 
the poultry outbreaks in Lincolnshire.

The first suspected outbreak was reported in a small 
flock on a weekday evening in December 2016, and a 
precautionary incident meeting was held the next day 
in order to plan the response. The day after, once the 
diagnosis was confirmed, PHE and CCG staff were 
deployed to two local sites to assess those who had 
been exposed to the sick flock and to distribute antiviral 
drugs to prevent infection. Ongoing active surveillance 

provided by the Health Protection Team of the high-risk 
exposed persons was required in the form of daily direct 
one-to-one contact, in order that any symptoms of 
influenza were detected and acted upon early. 

A further 3 outbreaks in flocks occurred over the 
subsequent 6 weeks, all requiring urgent diagnosis in 
the birds, prompt identification of exposed persons, 
regular surveillance of exposed persons for symptoms 
of influenza, and antiviral prescription where required 
(Figure 3). This response required collaborative multi-
agency working. For example, the CCGs developed 
Patient Group Directions (written instructions for the 
supply and administration of medicines to specific 
groups of patients) to allow certain non-prescribing 
healthcare workers to dispense prescription-only 
antivirals for those eligible, thus improving efficiency of 
drug administration. The PHE Health Protection Team, 
with support from the CCG, led the human health 
response including daily surveillance, while the Animal 
and Plant Health Agency (APHA) led the overall response 
and managed issues relating to animal health, crucial 
in limiting spread to other birds and reducing the risk to 
human health. The National Infection Service Respiratory 
Diseases Department at PHE provided expert guidance 
throughout. Fortunately, no exposed persons developed 
confirmed H5N8 avian influenza.

1. Health Protection and Communicable Disease

Page 37



24

Figure 3:  Avian influenza outbreaks in Lincolnshire, 2016-17

Dec 2016

May 2017

H5N8 Lincolnshire
Outbreak Timeline Multi-Agency Response

Antiviral
prophylaxis

Surveillence
for symptoms

Local
Authority

CCG &
GPS

National
Experts

Trading
Standards

Comms

Police

NHS &
Acute
CAre

Depra &
APHA

PHE

Birds affected
People exposed

6

1

5000

34

7000

54

22,000

51

.  (Source: Data from HPZone)

Vaccine Preventable Disease

Vaccinations are biological preparations that provide 
immunity against disease. They are the most effective 
method of preventing infectious disease, and have 
been responsible for the eradication of smallpox 
and the restriction of polio. The UK immunisation 
schedule (Public Health England, 2017b), co-
ordinated and commissioned by NHS England, 
provides comprehensive protection against a large 
number of potentially dangerous infections, helping 
save lives, prevent unnecessary illness and minimise 
the consequent costs to the healthcare system. The 
diseases protected against in the 2018 UK routine 
immunisation schedule are summarised in Figure 4.

NHS England are responsible for managing the routine 
immunisation programme, both nationally and locally. 
The programme in Lincolnshire is managed by the 
Central Midlands Screening and Immunisations Team.

For vaccinations to be maximally effective, a large 
proportion of the population need to receive them. 
This reduces the number of people who are susceptible 
to infectious disease and hence limits the spread of 
infections. This is known as herd immunity. Coverage 
of childhood immunisations in Lincolnshire is generally 
similar to regional averages, and above national 
averages, but below the benchmarks required for 
effective herd immunity. For example, for the first MMR 
vaccination dose given at 2 years of age, coverage in 
2016/17 was 93.1% in the county, 93.6% in the East 
Midlands, and 91.6% across England. However, the 
goal is at least a 95% vaccination rate, and further work 
is being done by the Screening and Immunisations 
Team to improve vaccination uptake in Lincolnshire, 
and thus minimise the consequent risk to the population.

1. Health Protection and Communicable Disease

Page 38



25

Figure 4:  The diseases protected against by the UK routine immunisation schedule, from 2018. 
(Vaccines against the same / related diseases are shown in the same colour).

(Source:  Patient UK, 2018)

When to immunise Diseases protected against

2 months

Diptheria, tenetus, whooping cough, polio, Haemophilus influenzae type B, hepatitus B

Pneumococcus

Rotavirus

Meningitis B

3 months
Diptheria, tenetus, whooping cough, polio, Haemophilus influenzae type B, hepatitus B

Rotavirus

4 months

Diptheria, tenetus, whooping cough, polio, Haemophilus influenzae type B, hepatitus B

Pneumococcus

Meningitis B

12-13 months

Meningitis C, Haemophilus influenzae type B 

Measles, mumps, rubella

Pneumococcus

Meningitis B

2-7 months Influenza (annually)

3 years and 4 months
Diptheria, tenetus, whooping cough, polio.

Measles, mumps, rubella

12-13 years (girls) Human papillioma virus 92 doses, 6 months apart)

14 years
Diptheria, tenetus, whooping cough, polio

Meningitis A, C, W, Y

Pregnant Women Whooping cough (given at 20 weeks gestation)

65 years Pneumococcus

65 years and older Influenza (annually)

70 years Shingles

1. Health Protection and Communicable Disease

Page 39



26

Measles

Measles is a viral illness whose symptoms include a 
cough, runny nose and a rash which spreads from the 
face to the whole body. Transmitted through the air 
when an infected person coughs or sneezes, measles 
is extremely contagious. The complications of measles 
can be serious, and include pneumonia, blindness, 
brain infection and death (Moss, 2017). Since the 
introduction of the measles vaccine – which is now 
combined with vaccines against mumps and rubella 
(MMR) – the number of recorded cases have dropped 
significantly from hundreds of thousands to hundreds. 
Following the widely publicised, but incorrect, claims 
surrounding the side-effects of MMR in 1998 (Bates, 
2011), the proportion of children being vaccinated 

against the disease dropped to 80% in 2003/4, and 
the numbers of cases and complications of measles 
increased significantly. Thankfully, vaccine uptake has 
been improving more recently, with catch-up campaigns 
run to protect those who were previously unvaccinated. 
Over the 5-year period to 2016, there have been 22 
cases of confirmed measles in Lincolnshire – a rate far 
lower than the national figures – and annual numbers of 
cases have declined from 11 cases in 2012 to 1 case in 
2016. Whilst these figures are encouraging, further work 
needs to be done to continue promotion of vaccination, 
with targeted approaches for those at high-risk 
for non-vaccination, including the travelling 
community and migrants.

Whooping Cough

Whooping cough is a disease of the respiratory tract 
that is spread through the air by coughing or sneezing. 
Infection is characteristically associated with cold-
like symptoms followed by bursts of coughing which 
can last several weeks. Whooping cough in babies 
is particularly risky, with infants prone to developing 
pneumonia. When a vaccination for whooping cough 
was introduced in the 1950s, infection rates dropped 
nationally. However, in 2012, an increase in rates was 
noted in infants under 3 months. In order to provide 
additional protection to this age group, in October 
2012, whooping cough vaccination was introduced 
for pregnant women between 16 to 32 weeks, as part 
of the routine immunisation schedule. This protects 

babies against whooping cough until they are old 
enough to receive their routine vaccinations at two 
months of age. This scheme has proved effective, 
with babies born to immunised mothers having a 90% 
reduction in their risk of developing whooping cough 
(Amirthalingam, Andrews et.al. 2014). In Lincolnshire, 
the annual number of confirmed cases of whooping 
cough in all age groups had steadily increased from 20 
in 2014 to 100 in 2016. Some of this increase may be 
due to heightened awareness, with more testing done 
in suspected cases. A high coverage of the maternal 
immunisation programme needs to be maintained to 
provide protection to those who are too young 
to be immunised.

Meningococcal Disease

Meningitis is an infection of the lining around the brain, 
often caused by bacteria. Symptoms include a fever and 
headaches, and infection is fatal in 5% of young children 
and 25% of older adults. Meningitis can also cause 
long-term disability, such as hearing and sight loss, and 
epilepsy. One of the common causative bacteria, known 
as meningococcus, can be particularly dangerous, and 
can cause both meningitis and septicaemia (infection 
in the bloodstream). Meningococcal septicaemia is 
associated with a characteristic rash, which does not 
disappear when pressing a glass firmly against it (the 
“tumbler test”). Transmission is from person to person 
via droplets in the air, or by direct sharing of respiratory 
or throat secretions (saliva). There are different types 
of meningococcus, including types A, B, C, W and 
Y (Public Health England, 2017c). Meningococcus 

type C (MenC) vaccines were introduced into the UK 
immunisation schedule in 1999, and this has almost 
eliminated MenC in England. Since its introduction, 
however, there has been an increase in the number 
of cases of other types of meningococcal infections. 
In order to address this, a meningitis B vaccination 
was introduced into the routine UK immunisation 
schedule in 2015, along with an extension of the 
meningitis C vaccination to include types A, W and Y. 
In Lincolnshire in 2016, there were 9 confirmed cases 
of meningococcal meningitis or septicaemia – similar 
to the previous 2 years. The hope is that the widened 
protection from different types of meningococcus 
will reduce the frequency of cases of meningococcal 
disease in the coming years.

1. Health Protection and Communicable Disease

Page 40



27

Av
er

ag
e 

ra
te

 o
f n

ew
 c

as
es

 p
er

 1
00

,0
00

(o
ve

r t
he

 p
re

vi
ou

s 
th

re
e 

ye
ar

s)

Year

80

60

40

20

0
2002 2004 2006 2008 2010 2012 2014 2016

Lincolnshire Leicester Leicestershire Northamptonshire East Midlands

Tuberculosis (TB) is a bacterial infection that is 
transmitted through a prolonged exposure to infected 
respiratory secretions. Symptoms typically include a 
persistent cough, fever, loss of appetite and weight loss. 
Although it most commonly affects the lungs, TB can 
infect many other areas of the body, including bones, 
the brain and the abdomen. Treatment is vital to cure 
infection, and involves taking several antibiotics for 6 
months or longer. The BCG vaccine is offered to at-risk 
persons, such as healthcare workers or children living in 
areas with high TB rates, to limit the risk of infection.

In 2016, there were 5664 new cases of TB identified 
across England, which equates to 10 new diagnoses 
per 100,000 people. There has been a gradual decline 
in TB diagnoses nationally over the previous few 
years, although within Lincolnshire case numbers 
have risen steadily year on year (Figure 5). In terms of 
absolute numbers of new cases, Lincolnshire compares 
favourably with an annual rate of 5 new diagnoses per 
100,000 people – significantly lower than the 
East Midlands and the rest of England (Figure 6).

Figure 5: Time trend showing the annual rate of new cases of TB per 100,000 population in local authorities in the 
South East Midlands, as well as the East Midlands overall. (Data for each year is calculated from the average 

of that year and the preceding two years.).

 (Source: Public Health England, undated)

2. Tuberculosis

Page 41



28

Given the gradual rise in TB cases in Lincolnshire, our 
relatively low rate compared to national fi gures is not 
cause for complacency. There are specifi c challenges to 
be addressed in order to minimise the rate and adverse 
consequences of TB in the county. For example, despite 
the low rate overall in Lincolnshire, there are still a 
number of complex cases within specifi c at-risk groups 
in Lincolnshire, such as the homeless and other under-
served populations. Indeed, nationally the rate of TB in 
the non-UK born population is 15 times higher than in 
the UK-born population, and it is 4 times higher in the 
most deprived compared to the least deprived (Public 
Health England, 2017d). A second, more widespread 
issue is that of drug resistance. Multidrug-resistant TB 
(MDR-TB) is a TB infection that does not respond to 
the most powerful anti-TB drugs. This makes treatment 
more diffi  cult, expensive and prolonged. MDR-TB also 
disproportionately aff ects those in vulnerable groups. 
A further challenge is that of latent TB – where an 

individual has the infection, but it remains dormant whilst 
at risk of reactivating. Work is being done nationally to 
screen recent entrants to the UK from countries with a 
high incidence of TB, in order to identify and treat latent 
TB infections before they become active and infectious.

The public health management of TB occurs on both 
local and national levels. An East Midlands TB Control 
Board was established in 2015 to strengthen the co-
ordination and oversight of all aspects of TB control.
This board includes representation from local 
authority, the CCG, NHS England, hospitals, research 
professionals and the voluntary sector, as well as from 
Public Health England. A local Lincolnshire TB Control 
Board also acts in the primary interest of the county, 
and provides representation to the East Midlands TB 
Board, working closely with them to deliver the national 
TB strategy. The work of these Boards in delivering 
sustained improvements in TB control is monitored 
through the evaluation of key indicators.

2. Tuberculosis

Figure 6:  Facts on Tuberculosis

TUBERCULOSIS: THE FACTS
SYMPTOMS

RISK
GROUPS

DRUG RESISTENCE is
a growing problem,

mostly due to
INCOMPLETE THERAPY

IN LINCOLNSHIRE
There are around 5 new cases of TB per year per 100,000 people
This rate has increased since 2000

A typical case requires:
An UNTREATED person
with ACTIVE TB infects
10-15 people per year
through CLOSE CONTACT

- 180 days treatment
- X-rays
- Lab tests
- Follow-up of contacts

but is better than the East Midlands and England

Chronic cough Fever Night sweats Weight Loss

Migrants Prisoners

2000 2005 2010 2016

Drug usersHomeless

1.6

4.6

Page 42



29

Case Study – Tuberculosis

A child was diagnosed with TB infection in Lincolnshire. 
TB infection in children is unusual in this county and 
an incident meeting was held promptly to investigate 
both where the child may have acquired the infection, 
and assess the risk of infection to others. A multi-
agency meeting was held and the decision taken that 
the county-wide TB service would investigate possible 
sources of infection by discussing potential exposures 
with the family. The nursery the child attended was also 
contacted and visited by the PHE Health Protection 
Team and the TB service to review any risk to others. 
It was identified that the child attended a number of 
classes but had not had close contact with all others in 
the nursery. The school worked closely with the health 
staff and provided details of all classmates and staff 
members who had been in contact with the case. These 
were then all offered screening. PHE Heath Protection 
Team and the TB service also held a number of sessions 
with staff to discuss TB infection and answer their 
queries, as the process had highlighted a number of 

anxieties. Unfortunately, there is still stigma attached 
to a diagnosis of TB, especially so in a county which 
does not have high numbers of cases.

Following screening of staff and children, no new cases 
were detected, and the Health Protection Team were 
able to reassure staff, children and parents. 

The following year, a small outbreak of TB in children 
connected to a childcare setting occurred. This led 
to a large-scale screening exercise at a school – 383 
individuals were invited for screening, of which 276 
attended. The PHE Health Protection Team, the 
countywide TB service and the 4 Lincolnshire CCGs 
worked closely with the school to undertake this 
screening. Five cases of latent (non-infectious) TB 
infection were detected and the individuals successfully 
completed treatment ensuring prevention of further 
active (and therefore infectious) cases.

Case Study – Mobile Find-and-Treat Service

A case study which demonstrates effective multi-agency 
working is the use of a mobile ‘Find and Treat’ facility. 
In both Lincoln and Boston there have been clusters of 
cases of TB in the vulnerable homeless populations. The 
cases themselves have been identified, diagnosed and 
had treatment to cure them of the infection. However, 
one aspect of health protection is identifying contacts 
of cases who may themselves be unknowingly infected 
and therefore present a potential risk to others. The 
homeless population prove challenging in terms of 
identification of the individuals exposed due to a number 
of lifestyle factors. Multi-agency incident meetings 
were convened by the PHE Health Protection Team 
resulting in the decision to use a London-based service 
to support contact screening. This service comprises a 
large NHS van which can be moved to any location in 
the country.  The van contains a mobile X-ray machine 
and can process samples for rapid identification of TB 
bacteria. Staff from PHE, the CCGs, healthcare provider 
organisations, a number of charitable and community 
organisations, local authority staff and the police all 
contributed to ensure a large number of the vulnerable 

groups in both Lincoln and Boston were screened and 
offered incentives for attending.  During one of these 
events, 46 people had a chest X-Ray and 35 had 
blood tests that screen for exposure to TB. Following 
this screening, one active case and eight latent (non-
infectious) TB cases were identified.

One particular male was invited for screening as he 
was a close contact of cases from an outbreak and 
had declined to attend all previous appointments 
for screening. He was of the same demographic as 
the outbreak cases, all of whom had waited until 
they were severely ill and eventually presented to the 
emergency department. All previous cases had required 
extensive hospital stays, either at tertiary facilities or in 
rehabilitation units, costing many thousands of pounds 
each. For this individual, detecting his infection early 
helped to prevent further onward spread of infection, 
avoided severe ill-health for themselves, and allowed 
him to be treated as an outpatient. In combination, 
these benefits would have also saved the NHS 
thousands of pounds.

2. Tuberculosis

Page 43



30

3. Healthcare-Acquired Infections and Antimicrobial Resistance

Antimicrobial Resistance

Antimicrobials are substances that kill micro-organisms, 
such as bacteria, viruses or parasites. It is a broad term 
that encompasses antibiotics, which are drugs that 
specifically target bacteria. Antimicrobials are commonly 
used in healthcare to prevent or treat infectious 
diseases. Indeed, antibiotic use has been increasing 
over the previous few years, most likely due to longer 
courses and higher doses being prescribed. However, 
the more we use them, the more likely it is that infectious 
bugs evolve in such a way as to protect themselves 
from these agents. This is known as antimicrobial 
resistance (AMR).

Although antimicrobial resistance is a naturally occurring 
process, it is facilitated by the inappropriate use of 
antimicrobials, such as taking antibiotics for a cold or 
sore throat caused by viruses (Ventola, 2015). AMR 
threatens the effective prevention, control and treatment 
of infectious diseases, and is a global public health 
problem that requires action across all government 
sectors and society. As AMR becomes more 
widespread, we will have fewer effective antimicrobials 
to treat infectious diseases, which will subsequently 
pose a much greater risk to health. A lack of effective 
antibiotics would also compromise the success of 
major surgery and cancer chemotherapy. This issue is 
exacerbated by the lack of discovery of any new 
classes of antibiotic over the previous 30 years. 

The cost of healthcare for patients with resistant 
infections is higher than care for those with non-resistant 
infections, due to a longer duration of illness, additional 
testing and the requirement for more expensive drugs. It 
is estimated that if AMR is not addressed, it will annually 
result in around 10 million deaths worldwide by 2050 – 
more than cancer –  and cost the global economy £66 
trillion (Figure 7) (O’Neill, 2014).

The UK has helped lead international efforts in tackling 
AMR, involving the World Health Organisation, the 
United Nations, and the G7 and G20 fora. Global 
acknowledgement of the risk of AMR came in 
September 2016, when 193 Member States adopted 
a UN Declaration on AMR. The UK’s own review of AMR, 
published in 2016, resulted in a number of commitments 
by the government (Department of Health and Social 
Care, 2016). These included creating a global approach 
to funding the development of new antimicrobials, 
promoting research into new vaccines to prevent 
disease, improving the speed of diagnostics, enabling 
better prescribing, and promoting understanding and 
awareness of AMR. These responsibilities are being 
led by a variety of institutions, including Public Health 
England, the Department of Health, Department of 

Food and Rural Affairs (DEFRA), NHS England, and the 
Medicines and Healthcare Products Regulatory Agency. 
For example, Public Health England advised the NHS 
on incentivising the reduction of antibiotic prescriptions 
in GP practices – a system which has now been 
implemented, as described below. 

Within Lincolnshire, and across the East Midlands, there 
is a strong collaborative network that works to drive 
improvements in antimicrobial prescribing and reduce 
antimicrobial resistance. Co-ordinated by Public Health 
England East Midlands, the network is involved with 
proactive and reactive work. Examples of proactive 
activities include regular reviews of the local data 
around AMR, conducting audits, and using the results 
of these to identify issues and inform action. Reactive 
work in AMR includes support in disease outbreaks. 
The AMR network also inputs into education and 
training, including the provision of AMR-focused events, 
to promote understanding and responsibility around 
antimicrobial prescribing.

Improving antimicrobial prescribing practices across the 
NHS is a difficult task, especially when there is patient 
demand. In order to help health practitioners, systems 
are now available to allow individual GP practices to see 
data on their own antimicrobial prescribing practices, 
and compare these to local and national prescribing 
rates. Similar data are now being collected for hospital 
Trusts, looking at antimicrobial prescribing, levels of 
resistance, and antimicrobial stewardship (defined as 
strategies focusing on the responsible management of 
antimicrobial use).  Since data started being collected 
in 2017, the average amount of antibiotic prescribing 
to admissions at United Lincolnshire Hospitals NHS 
Trust has been about 15% lower than the rest of 
England.  Whilst this is encouraging, this may be due 
to wider factors, including the type of cases seen at the 
Trust and the general health of Lincolnshire compared 
to England as a whole. Other indicators for AMR in 
Lincolnshire are positive, too. For example, almost 98% 
of hospital antibiotic prescriptions were reviewed within 
72 hours in the first quarter of 2017/18 (an indicator 
of good antimicrobial stewardship), compared to 90% 
across England. The proportions of E.coli bloodstream 
infections that are resistant to common antibiotics are 
also lower compared to other areas of the country. 
For example, 6-8% of E.coli bloodstream infections in 
Lincolnshire were resistant to the cephalosporin class 
of antibiotics, compared with 13% across the UK. 
Whilst data like these are encouraging, the trends of 
antimicrobial prescriptions over time will provide a more 
useful measure of whether prescribing practices are 
improving, and this will be followed closely.

Page 44



31

3. Healthcare-Acquired Infections and Antimicrobial Resistance

Figure 7:  Antimicrobial resistance.

Healthcare-Associated Infections

A healthcare-associated infection (HCAI) is one that is 
acquired during the process of care in a hospital or other 
healthcare facility, and that was not present at the time of 
admission. HCAIs can occur anywhere in the body, but 
most commonly affects the gastrointestinal and respiratory 
systems, and the urinary tract. Common infections that 
result in HCAI include methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus 
aureus (MRSA), Clostridium difficile (C.diff) and Escherichia 
coli (E.coli). HCAIs are a risk for both patients and staff, 
and can result in significant morbidity and mortality in those 
infected. Across Europe, around 25,000 people die each 
year from hospital-acquired infections (European Centre 
for Disease Prevention and Control/European Medicines 
Agency, 2009).

During the 1990s, increasing reports of MRSA across 
the UK led to the introduction of mandatory surveillance 
of this bacterium. The use of this data, followed by a 
zero-tolerance approach and a system wide drive to 
reduce MRSA, has resulted in a consistent decline 
in the rate of infections from its peak in 2005. In the 
financial year 2016/17, there were just 232 cases of 
MRSA bloodstream infections in England and Wales, 
compared to 450 in 2013/14. The annual number of 
deaths has also significantly declined. An encouragingly 
similar trend was seen in Lincolnshire, with no MRSA 
infections reported in 2016/17, compared to 5 infections 
in 2013/14. 

Another more recent example of a HCAI is C.diff – a 
bacterium that can be found in the gut of healthy people, 
and which normally causes no harm. However, some 
antibiotics interfere with the natural balance of bacteria 
in the intestine by destroying those bugs which usually 
prevent C.diff from multiplying. If this occurs, C.diff 
multiplies rapidly and produces toxins which attack the 
intestine, resulting in fever, diarrhoea and abdominal 
pain. The toxin-induced bowel inflammation can be life-
threatening. Like for MRSA, evidence-informed actions 
and a zero-tolerance approach have started to have 
an effect in reducing the numbers of C.diff infections. 
In 2016/17, there were 57 cases of C.diff infection in 
United Lincolnshire Hospitals NHS Trust, giving a rate 
of around 15 infections per 100,000 bed-days. This is 
similar to the average rate across the East Midlands 
and in England. Over the previous decade, there has 
been a steady decline in the rate of C.diff infections – 
both locally and nationally (Figure 8). It is likely that C. 
diff infection rates reach a plateau rather than disappear 
completely, as recent research suggests that not 
all cases of infection are hospital-acquired (Eyre, 
Cule, et. al. 2013).

ANTIMICROBIAL RESISTANCE
ANTIMICROBIAL

RESISTANCE
The ability for bugs to

withstand antimicrobials

CAUSES

ANTIMICROBIAL
Substances used to

treat infectious diseases

The proportion of
bugs resistant to
antimicrobials is
increasing... ...and by 2050 it will resullt in:

Inappropriate
prescribing

10 million deaths per year -
more than cancer 

£66 million lost in health
expenses and productivity

Not taking
anti-biotics as
prescribed

Poor hygiene
practises

Agricultural
overuse

Page 45



32

In
fe

ct
io

n 
ra

te
 p

er
 1

00
,0

00
 b

ed
-d

ay
s

Year

100

80

60

40

20

0
2007/08

07/08 08/09 09/10 10/11 11/12 12/13 13/14 14/15 15/16 16/17

Number
of cases
(ULH)

279 219 158 94 74 76 61 65 58 57

2009/10 2011/12 2013/14 2015/16

ULH

England

Figure 8: Rates of C.diff infections per 100,000 bed-days over the previous decade in United Lincolnshire Hospitals NHS Trust 
(ULH) compared to national rates.  (Absolute numbers of cases in ULH are shown in the table below.)

(Source: Public Health England, undated)

A third HCAI which is gaining more recent focus is E.coli 
bloodstream infection (BSI). This has been highlighted 
as particularly important as rates of infection are rising 
nationally, and the organism readily acquires resistance. 
Furthermore, E.coli is the most common cause of 
bacterial bloodstream infection. E.coli can enter the 
blood from many sources, but is most commonly 
secondary to urinary tract infections (40%), liver or biliary 
tract infection (11%) and the gastrointestinal tract (5%) 
(Bou-Antoun, Davies, et. al. 2016). Cases of E.coli BSI 
may be acquired in hospital or in the community (out of 
the healthcare service), with around two-thirds of cases 
being community-acquired. A recently published study 
of UK data found that of 28,600 E.coli BSI infections 
examined from 2011/12, there were over 5000 deaths, 
with 18% dying within 30 days of hospital admission 
overall (Abernethy, Johnson, et.al. 2015). To put this into 
context, that is over four times as many deaths as the 
highest ever single-year death tally from MRSA. Deaths 
were more common in males, the elderly and in cases 
which began in hospital. Cases caused by bacteria that 
were resistant to the most commonly used antibiotic 
had a 30% increased risk of mortality.

Across England in 2016/17, there was an average of 
74 cases of E.coli BSI per 100,000 population. There 
was some variation within Lincolnshire, from a rate of 60 
per 100,000 in Lincolnshire West CCG to a rate of 79 
per 100,000 in Lincolnshire East CCG (Figure 9). This 
may be partly due to the differences in the proportion of 
older people in the CCGs. The rates of E.coli BSI across 

the country also appear to be linked to deprivation, 
with higher rates amongst the most disadvantaged. 
Surveillance in the UK has demonstrated that there have 
been year-on-year increases in the numbers of people 
with diagnosed E.coli BSI, from 60 cases per 100,000 
in 2012/13 to 74 cases per 100,000 in 2016/17.

This increase has been cause for some concern, and 
the Secretary of State for Health has recently set a 
challenging target of reducing the number of E.coli 
bacteraemia infections by 50% by 2020. More work 
needs to be done to ascertain the different causes and 
risk factors for E.coli bacteraemia, and to develop and 
assess innovative interventions that can help reduce 
the number of infections. The target is an important 
one from a patient safety perspective, and allows an 
opportunity for our local Health Protection Team to 
work with national experts at PHE, the Department 
of Health, GPs, Clinical Commissioning Groups and 
Acute Trusts, towards a common goal. Within the East 
Midlands, various providers and commissioners work 
in partnership to share good practice. Each healthcare 
provider, such as the Acute Hospital Trust, Community 
Health Services Trust, and the Mental Health Trust, 
has their own internal Infection Prevention and Control 
(ICP) meetings to review data and information. Within 
Lincolnshire, individual provider and commissioner 
representatives also meet at county-wide Whole Health 
Economy ICP meetings, which Public Health England 
attend and vice chair.

3. Healthcare-Acquired Infections and Antimicrobial Resistance

Page 46



33

Figure 9: E.coli bloodstream infections

4. Emerging Diseases

What is an emerging disease?

An emerging infection is one which has either newly 
appeared in a population, or one that has previously 
existed but become rapidly more common or 
widespread. This could be, for example, an infection 
that has spread to new geographical areas and 
populations, or the re-emergence of an old infection 
that has become resistant to treatment. A range of 
emerging infectious disease have been identified over 
the previous few decades, including SARS (severe acute 
respiratory syndrome) and new variant Creutzfeldt-
Jakob disease (which causes “mad cow disease”). 
Most emerging infections are zoonoses – meaning that 
they are diseases that are known to affect animals, 
but that transmission can occur between animals and 
humans. The emergence of new infectious diseases is 
unpredictable, but they could become more frequent 
due to a number of factors, including climate change, 
increased world travel and better systems 
for detecting new diseases.

A major risk of emerging infectious diseases is their 
potential to become pandemics – affecting large 

numbers of people across many countries, or even 
worldwide. They are therefore a threat to global health 
security. The “swine flu” pandemic of 2009 caused 
over 18,500 deaths globally, and the historic pandemic 
influenza of 1918 (“Spanish flu”) killed over 50 million 
people worldwide. Whilst it is difficult to predict the 
impact of an emerging infection, the rapid spread of 
such an infection may have a considerable effect on 
services in Lincolnshire and across the UK, such as on 
health and education, with economic disruption. The UK 
National Risk Register of Civil Emergencies summarises 
the likelihood and potential impacts of a range of risks 
over the next 5 years, including natural hazards and 
malicious attacks (Cabinet Office, 2017). In 2017, 
emerging infectious diseases were assessed as being 
moderately likely with a moderate impact – a similar risk 
as air pollution, and an increase in risk compared to 
the previous assessment in 2015. Robust action plans 
have been developed in order to minimise the risk of 
outbreaks of emerging infections, should such a threat 
present itself in the future. Two recent examples of 
emerging infections are described below.

3. Healthcare-Acquired Infections and Antimicrobial Resistance

Escherichia Coli
Bloodstream Infections

RISK FACTORS

Most common cause of
bloodstream infection

Infection rate
has increased by
over 20% in 4 years

Over 40,000 cases
documented in 2016/17

Community-acquired 
in two-thirds of cases

Females Over 85’s Recent UTI Catheters

Lincolnshire
South-West

Lincs South

Lincs West

Lincs East

ENGLAND

45 50 55 60 65 70 75 80 85

Page 47



34

Ebola

Ebola is a viral infection thought to be carried by fruit 
bats which can be transmitted to, and spread between, 
humans by the direct contact with infected blood or 
bodily fl uids. Symptoms include a fl u-like illness, chest 
and abdominal pain, headaches, a rash, and internal 
and external bleeding (Figure 10). The fatality rate is 
around 50%. Between 1976, when it was fi rst identifi ed 
near the Ebola River in the Congo, to 2013, there were 
fewer than 2000 confi rmed cases. In 2014, an epidemic 
arose in 3 West African countries – Guinea, Sierra 
Leone and Liberia – infecting almost 29,000 people and 
causing over 11,300 deaths. It was declared a public 
health emergency by the World Health Organisation.
The UK contributed to the international eff ort in 
managing the epidemic by leading the international 
response in Sierra Leone; sending staff  from the 
NHS, military and aid organisations; establishing 
Ebola treatment centres through the Department for 
International Development; training local healthcare 
workers; and committing over £400 million to ending
the epidemic.

As an additional control measure, to ensure early 
diagnosis and prevent disease spread, PHE led and 
co-ordinated a response to ensure travellers from 
Ebola-aff ected countries were screened. At UK airports 
and the Eurostar terminal at St Pancras, passengers 
who had recently travelled to Liberia, Guinea and Sierra 
Leone had their temperature measured and completed a 
questionnaire to determine their risk of infection. Based 
on these results, there were the options of a further 
clinical assessment by Public Health England staff , and 

transfer to hospital for testing. Individuals who had no 
symptoms of Ebola, but who potentially could have 
contracted the virus, were closely monitored for 21 
days (the disease’s maximum incubation period). This 
included a number of Lincolnshire residents.

Public Health England produced a wide range of 
guidance documents to inform and advise professionals 
and the public (Public Health England, 2015). These 
cover all aspects of Ebola, including prevention and 
management in primary care and hospitals, diagnosis, 
assessing risk in prisons and immigration centres, 
screening people in airports, and disposing of potentially 
contaminated waste.

During the epidemic, there were only 3 confi rmed cases 
of Ebola in UK residents – in healthcare and military staff  
who had volunteered in Sierra Leone. Only one of these 
was newly diagnosed in the UK. Although no one in 
Lincolnshire had acquired Ebola, plans and policies were 
in place for the appropriate management of suspected 
cases, to identify potential contacts, and to implement
a range of control measures.

The Ebola epidemic was declared over in early 2016, 
and the ongoing risk to the UK public remains very low. 
A look-back exercise has been carried out to inform 
future actions and improve preparedness. Some of the 
learning from this includes the need to invest in vaccine 
development for potentially catastrophic epidemics, 
and the proposed development of a High Consequence 
Infectious Disease programme between Public Health 
England, the NHS and the Department of Health.

Figure 10: Ebola 

4. Emerging Diseases

<21 day incubation

No vaccination or cure

50% fatality rate

Recent outbreak
in Western Africa

(2013-2016)
Symptoms

BLEEDING

RASH

VOMITING

HEADACHE

FEVER

CHEST &
ABDOMINAL
PAIN

DIARRHOEA

MUSCLE &
JOINT PAIN

...but not by air, food or water

First documented near the Ebola River,
democratic Republic of Congo1976

Transmitted by:

* For up-to-date accurate information on Zika
risk countries, see www.travelhealthpro.org.uk

EBOLA
Fruit Bats most - likey origin

Direct contact with infected
animals or humans

Direct contact with infected
blood, urine or stool

Page 48



35

Zika

First identified in the Zika forest in Uganda in 1947, the 
Zika virus is known to circulate at low levels in Africa 
and Asia in humans, animals and mosquitoes. Only a 
few outbreaks were noted before 2015. In May 2015, 
the first Brazilian case was documented. Since then, 
Zika infection has been reported in many countries in 
South and Central America, the Caribbean, South-East 
Asia and Oceania (Figure 11). Zika infection is usually 
mild and self-limiting, although the majority of infected 
individuals develop no symptoms. Symptoms include 
fever, headache, joint pain and a rash that lasts for less 
than seven days. The major complication of the Zika 
virus is infection during pregnancy, which can result in 
brain malformations in the unborn child.

The Zika virus is transmitted by the mosquito Aedes 
aegyptii. This mosquito does not live in the UK, so 
cases seen here are almost exclusively associated 
with travel to areas with active Zika virus transmission. 
Public Health England run a mosquito surveillance 
scheme using mosquito traps to monitor the population 
dynamics and species distribution across the UK. 

In 2016, there were 283 cases of Zika infection in the 
UK, of which 7 were in pregnant women. All but one 
were associated with foreign travel (with the other case 
being sexually transmitted). From January to November 
2017, there were 18 cases of Zika infection – far fewer 

than the previous year – and may in part be due to 
advice given to those considering travel to Zika-affected 
areas. Less than 5 cases of Zika infection have been 
noted in Lincolnshire, all following travel abroad.

The advice from Public Health England is based on the 
primary concern of avoiding infection during pregnancy. 
Pregnant women are advised to avoid non-essential 
travel to Zika-affected areas, and other travellers should 
follow published bite-prevention advice. Detailed travel 
health advice is hosted by the National Travel Health 
Network and Centre (NatHNaC) website (National Travel 
Health Network and Centre, 2017). To minimise the risk 
of sexual transmission of the disease, all males should 
use barrier contraception for 6 months following return 
from travel to Zika-affected areas, as the virus can live 
in the semen. Women should avoid conception for 8 
weeks after returning from travel. Unfortunately, there 
is currently no vaccine or specific treatment for the 
infection (Public Health England, 2017e).

Public Health England have also published guidance 
for healthcare professionals to aid in the assessment 
and management of pregnant women and babies with 
potential Zika infection. These have been developed in 
collaboration with other medical professional bodies, 
including the Royal College of Obstetricians and 
Gynaecologists and the Royal College of Midwives.

Figure 11: Zika virus

4. Emerging Diseases

Transmitted by mosquitos

Large reduction in cases in the
UK between 2016 & 2017

Infection during pregnancy can
cause brain defects in the baby

* For up-to-date accurate information on Zika
risk countries, see www.travelhealthpro.org.uk

Symptoms start 2 - 7 days
after mosquito bite

Only 1 in 4 develop
symptoms

Zika risk areas*

2016 2017

ZIKA Virus

18283

2 7

Page 49



36

Summary of Key Chemical and Environmental Hazards

Environmental public health incidents often require an 
integrated response from several Centres within PHE. 
The Centre for Radiation, Chemical and Environmental 
Hazards (CRCE) works in partnership with Health 
Protection Teams, along with Communications and 
Emergency Planning teams, to provide expert advice 
and support to a range of stakeholders during acute 
and longer-term environmental incidents which have 
the potential to threaten health. Such incidents could 
involve fires, chemical contamination of the environment 
(air, water, land), or exposure to chemicals and poisons, 
including deliberate release.

CRCE reviews the evidence base and produces position 
statements and resources for contentious facilities, such 
as energy-from-waste incinerators, shale gas and landfill 
sites, and establishments storing or handling large 

quantities of hazardous industrial chemicals – known 
as COMAH (Control of Major Accident Hazards) sites. 
CRCE also performs similar functions for common 
incident types, including protracted fires.

PHE works closely with the Lincolnshire Resilience 
Forum to ensure suitable and effective multi-agency 
emergency preparedness for potential major incidents, 
including at upper-tier (higher risk) COMAH sites, high-
risk waste sites and Major Accident Hazard Pipelines 
(which include high-pressure natural gas supply 
pipelines, as well as pipeline systems transporting 
oils, chemical and other gases). PHE provides expert 
responses to consultations on significant facilities or 
infrastructure development and can provide impartial 
support to public engagement and public meetings.

Case Study – sulphur mustard incident in Lincolnshire

PHE was alerted on the 3rd October, 2017 to an incident 
involving a member of the public who had potentially 
been exposed to sulphur mustard (i.e. mustard gas) in 
Lincolnshire. Six small canisters were found in a forested 
area nearby to a former military base.  Two canisters 
were originally discovered and disturbed, but these were 
likely part of a wider cache.  A Strategic Co-ordination 
Group – whose function is to co-ordinate multi-agency 

responses during major events – was called to direct 
the safe management of this incident, and to ensure 
appropriate investigation and decontamination. In total, 
150 canisters of sulphur mustard were uncovered. 
PHE provided expert advice and contributed to the 
multi-agency communication process and dynamic 
risk assessments.

Air Pollution

Air pollution impacts on public health, the natural 
environment, and the economy. Poor air quality is the 
largest environmental risk to public health in the UK 
(Holgate and Stokes-Lampard, 2017). It is known to 
disproportionately affect vulnerable groups, for example 
the elderly, children and people already suffering from 
pre-existing health conditions, such as respiratory and 
cardiovascular disease (Sacks, Stanek et.al. 2011). 
PHE facilitate the East Midlands Air Quality Network, a 
cross-disciplinary network which includes professionals 
from Public Health, Environmental Health professionals, 
and spatial and transport planners. This network 

encourages collaborative working at a regional scale and 
the sharing of best practice, with the aim of reducing air 
pollution impacts and inequalities, and ensuring health 
is considered at an early stage in policy and intervention 
development. CRCE supports PHE within the East 
Midlands by providing expert scientific advice to Air 
Quality Cells (quick-response teams that co-ordinate air 
quality monitoring in major pollution incidents), Scientific 
and Technical Advice Cells (who provide co-ordinated 
scientific and technical advice during the response to an 
emergency) and other multi-agency meetings.

5. Chemical And Environmental Hazards

Page 50



37

5. Chemical And Environmental Hazards

Surface and Coastal Flooding

Flooding can result in loss of life, damage to buildings, 
travel disruption and dangers from fast-flowing water. 
It can also result in indirect effects, such as difficulties 
in access by emergency services, and adverse mental 
health effects in those who are subsequently displaced 
(Munro, Kovats, et al., 2017) Lincolnshire has a large 
fluvial (river) and tidal floodplain, covering almost 40% of 
the county. In order to minimise the risk of flooding, this 
floodplain almost entirely relies on manmade defences, 
such as walls, embankments and pumping stations. 
A number of main rivers pass through urban areas 
of the county, such as the River Trent and the River 
Witham, putting around 18,000 properties at risk from 
fluvial flooding. Flooding can also result from excessive  
rainfall, such as surface water flooding, which occurs 
when rainfall exceeds the capacity of piped drainage 
systems, or as a result of overland flow following 
intense rainfall. Lincolnshire County Council is the Lead 
Local Flood Authority, and thus is the lead responding 
agency in surface water flood incidents, as well as being 
responsible for assessing, mapping and planning for 
local flood risk. 

The annual chance of flooding to coastal communities 
in Lincolnshire is estimated to be between 0.5% (1 in 
200) and 2% (1 in 50). This risk is low largely due to 

man-made defence systems. Whilst the probability of 
coastal flooding is low, this risk is likely to increase with 
climate change, which is predicted to result in a rise 
in the sea level by 1 metre over the next 100 years. 
Much of the land behind tide defences in Lincolnshire 
is below average sea level, and extends up to 10km 
inland, forming the largest single area at flood risk in 
the country. The consequences of a severe tidal surge 
are therefore potentially high. The Environment Agency 
are responsible for coastal flood defences (as well as 
main river defences), and thus work in partnership with 
Lincolnshire County Council as lead responders for 
flooding incidents.

Comprehensive response plans have been developed 
in order to address the potential risks of coastal and 
inland flooding. These plans are based on local risk 
assessments which suggest a moderate risk of flooding 
in the county, with a potential impact ranging from local 
disruption to travel, to possible damage to buildings. 
Three key strategies are encompassed within such 
response plans. These are: (a) pre-deployment of assets 
where there is some warning time, such as national flood 
rescue services; (2) the removal of people from danger, 
including preventative evacuation; and (3) the protection 
of local infrastructure and essential services.

There is evidence and assurance of effective systems being in place to monitor known hazards to health in Lincolnshire. 
The participation of our health systems in national and international systems of surveillance gives some assurance that 
new and emerging threats would be identified, investigated and mitigated where possible.

However, I ask that the organisations responsible for protecting the health of local people consider the 
following recommendations:

1. The Health Protection Board, Clinical Commissioning 
Groups (CCGs) and Healthcare Providers continue 
to innovate to promote the uptake of immunisation 
and vaccination programmes across our entire 
population.

2.  The Health Protection Board, CCGs and Healthcare 
Providers provide assurance and evidence of 
improvement in the uptake of immunisation 
and vaccination programmes in populations 
where protection is more limited, particularly 
in East Lincolnshire.

Conclusions and Recommendations

Page 51



38

Abernethy, J.K., Johnson, A.P., Guy, R., Hinton, N., 
Sheridan, E.A., Hope, R.J., (2015) Thirty day all-cause 
mortality in patients with Escherichia coli bacteraemia in 
England,  Clinical Microbiology and  Infection, 21(3), 251 
e1-8

Amirthalingam G., Andrews N., Campbell H., et al., 
(2014) Effectiveness of maternal pertussis vaccination in 
England: 
an observational study, Lancet, 384(9953), 1521-8.

Barnett, K., Mercer, S., Norbury, M., Watt, G., Wyke, S., 
and Guthrie, B. (2012) Epidemiology of multimorbidity 
and implications for health care, research, and medical 
education: a cross-sectional study, Lancet, 380(9836), 
37-43

Bates T., (2011) MMR scare: In the wake of Wakefield, 
BMJ, 342: d806

Bou-Antoun, S,. Davies, J., Guy, R., Johnson, 
A.P., Sheridan, E.A., Hope, R.J., (2016) Descriptive 
epidemiology of Escherichia coli bacteraemia in England, 
April 2012 to March 2014, Euro Surveill, 21(35)

British Heart Foundation, (2015) Physical Activity 
Statistics 2015, London: British Heart Foundation

Cabinet Office, (2017) National Risk Register of Civil 
Emergencies available from <https://www.gov.uk/
government/publications/national-risk-register-of-civil-
emergencies-2017-edition> [Accessed Jan 2018]

Centres for Disease Control and Prevention (2018) 
People at High Risk of Developing Flu–Related 
Complications, available from <https://www.cdc.gov/flu/
about/disease/high_risk.htm>  [Accessed Jan 2018]

The Chartered Society of Physiotherapy (undated) The 
Cost of Falls, available from <http://www.csp.org.uk/
professional-union/practice/your-business/evidence-
base/cost-falls>    [accessed 24th January 2018].

Department of Health and Social Care, (2016) 
Antimicrobial resistance review: government response, 
available from <https://www.gov.uk/government/
publications/government-response-the-review-on-
antimicrobial-resistance>   [Accessed Jan 2018]

East Midlands Clinical Senate Networks (2018) Atrial 
fibrillation, available from <http://www.emsenate.nhs.uk/
cardiovascular/work-programmes/atrial-fibrillation-and-
heart-failure>  [accessed 13/03/18]

European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control 
(ECDC)/ European Medicines Agency, (2009) EMEA 
Joint Technical Report: The bacterial challenge: time to 
react, available from <http://www.ecdc.europa.eu/en/
publications/Publications/0909_TER_The_Bacterial_

Challenge_Time_to_React.pdf> [Accessed Jan 2018]

Eyre, D.W., Cule, M.L., Wilson, D.J., Wilson, D.J., 
Griffiths, D., Vaughan, A., O’Connor, L., Ip, C.L.C., 
Golubchick, T., Batty, E.M., Finney, J.M., Wyllie, D.H., 
Deidelot, X., (2013) Diverse sources of C. difficile 
infection identified on whole-genome sequencing,  New 
England  Journal of  Medicine,  369(13), 1195-205

Food Standards Agency, (2011) Foodborne disease 
strategy 2010-15, available from <https://www.food.gov.
uk/sites/default/files/multimedia/pdfs/fds2015.pdf>  
[Accessed Jan 2018]

Gale, C., Westbury, L., and Cooper, C. (2018) Social 
Isolation and Loneliness as risk factors for the 
progression of frailty: the English Longitudinal Study of 
Ageing. Gerontology, 
64(1), 58-66

Gallagher N., Johnston J., Crookshanks H., Nugent 
C., and Irvine N., (2017) Characteristics of respiratory 
outbreaks in care homes during four influenza seasons, 
2011-2015, Journal of Hospital  Infection, S0195-6701 
(17), 30464-4

Gee, E. M., and Gutman, G. M. (2000) Introduction, In 
E. M. Gee & G. M. Gutman (editors), The overselling 
of population aging: apocalyptic demography, 
intergenerational challenges, and social policy, Oxford: 
Oxford University Press

Holgate S. and Stokes-Lampard H., (2017) Air pollution-
-a wicked problem, BMJ, 357: j2814

HPZone, (2016) Home, available from <http://
hpzoneinfo.in-fact.com/>  [Accessed March 2018]

Keenan, T.A., (2010) Home and community preferences 
of the 45+ population, Washington: AARP.

Kingston, A., Robinson, L., Booth, H., Knapp, M., and 
Jagger, C. (2018) Projections of multi-morbidity in the 
older population in England to 2035: estimates from the 
Population Ageing and Care Simulation (PACSim) model, 
Age and Ageing,  Epub ahead of print, available from 
<https://academic.oup.com/ageing/advance-article/
doi/10.1093/ageing/afx201/4815738>

Marengoni, A., Angleman, S., and Melis, R., (2011) 
Ageing with multi-morbidity: a systematic review of the 
literature, Ageing Research Review, 10(4), 430-9

Moss WJ., (2017) Measles,  Lancet; 390(10111), 2490-
502

Munro, A., Kovats, R.S., Rubin, G.J., Waite, T.D., 
Bone, A., Armstrong, (2017) Effect of evacuation and 
displacement on the association between flooding and 

Bibliography

Page 52



39

mental health outcomes: a cross-sectional analysis of 
UK survey data, Lancet Planet Health 1(4), e134-e41

National Institute for Health and Care Excellence, (2016) 
Multimorbidity: clinical assessment and management, 
NICE guideline (NG56) available from <https://www.nice.
org.uk/guidance/ng56> [accessed 14/03/18]

National Institute for Health and Care Excellence, (2017) 
Clinical Knowledge Summary, Stroke and TIA, available 
from <https://cks.nice.org.uk/stroke-and-tia> [accessed 
13th March 2018]

National Travel Health Network and Centre, available 
from <https://nathnac.net/> [Accessed Jan 2018]

NHS England, (2018) Stroke Pathway, available from 
<https://www.england.nhs.uk/rightcare/products/
pathways/stroke-pathway/> [accessed 13/03/18]

Office of National Statistics, (2017) Population 
Projections, London: ONS

O’Neill J., (2014) Review on Antimicrobial Resistance 
Antimicrobial Resistance: Tackling a crisis for the 
health and wealth of nations. Review on Antimicrobial 
Resistance, available from <https://amr-review.org/
sites/default/files/AMR%20Review%20Paper%20-%20
Tackling%20a%20crisis%20for%20the%20health%20
and%20wealth%20of%20nations_1.pdf> [Accessed Jan 
2018]

Pannell, J., Aldridge, H. and Kenway, P., (2012) Older 
people’s housing: choice, quality of life, and under-
occupation, York: Joseph Rowntree Foundation

Patient UK, (2018) UK Immunisation Schedule, available 
from <https://patient.info/doctor/immunisation-
schedule-uk>  [Accessed March 2018]

Projecting Older People Population Information, (2017) 
Oxford: Oxford Brookes University available from <http://
www.poppi.org.uk/>  [Accessed March 2018]

Public Health England, (2015) The burden of disease 
and what it means in England, available from < https://
publichealthmatters.blog.gov.uk/2015/09/15/the-
burden-of-disease-and-what-it-means-in-england/> 
[Accessed 
March 2018] a

Public Health England, (2016) Cardiovascular disease: 
getting serious about prevention, available from 
< https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/
cardiovascular-disease-getting-serious-about-
prevention> [Accessed 14/03/18] b

Public Health England, (2017) Complete routine 
immunisation schedule, available from <https://www.
gov.uk/government/publications/the-complete-routine-
immunisation-schedule>  [Accessed Jan 2018] b

Public Health England, (2015) Ebola virus disease: 
clinical management and guidance available from 
<https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/ebola-
virus-disease-clinical-management-and-guidance> 
[Accessed Jan 2018]

Public Health England, (2017) Falls and fracture 
consensus statement: Supporting commissioning for 
prevention, London: Public Health England, a

Public Health England, (2017) Meningococcal disease: 
guidance, data and analysis. Available from <https://
www.gov.uk/government/collections/meningococcal-
disease-guidance-data-and-analysis> [Accessed Jan 
2018] c

Public Health England, (2010), Notifiable disease and 
causative organisms: how to report, available from 
<https://www.gov.uk/guidance/notifiable-diseases-and-
causative-organisms-how-to-report>  [Accessed Jan 
2018]

Public Health England (undated) Public Health 
Outcomes Framework, available from <https://fingertips.
phe.org.uk/profile/public-health-outcomes-framework> 
[accessed 24th January 2018], b

Public Health England, (2017) Tuberculosis in England 
- 2017 report, available from <https://www.gov.uk/
government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/
file/654152/TB_Annual_Report_2017.pdf> [Accessed 
Jan 2018] d

Public Health England, (2017) Zika virus (ZIKV): clinical 
and travel guidance, available from  <https://www.gov.
uk/government/collections/zika-virus-zikv-clinical-and-
travel-guidance> [Accessed Jan 2018] e

Robertson, A. (1997) Beyond apocalyptic demography: 
towards a moral economy of interdependence, Ageing 
and Society, 17, 425–446

Sacks, J.D., Stanek, L.W., Luben T.J., Johns, D.O., 
Buckley, B.J., Brown, J.S., Ross, M., (2011) Particulate 
matter-induced health effects: who is susceptible? 
Environmental Health Perspectives, 119(4), 446-54

Salive, M., (2013) Multimorbidity in older adults, 
Epidemiology Review, 35(1), 75-83

Semenza JC, Suk JE, Tsolova S., (2010), Social 
determinants of infectious diseases: a public health 
priority, 
Euro Surveill, 15(27), 2-4

Sommer I., Griebler U., Mahlknecht P., et al., (2015), 
Socioeconomic inequalities in non-communicable 
diseases and their risk factors: an overview of systematic 
reviews, BMC Public Health,  15: 914

Stroke Association, (2018) Atrial fibrillation, available from 
<https://www.stroke.org.uk/what-is-stroke/are-you-at-
risk-of-stroke/atrial-fibrillation> [Accessed 13/03/18] a

Page 53



40

Stroke Association, (2018) Understand stroke, available 
from <http://www.stroke.org/understand-stroke/what-
stroke> [Accessed 13/03/18] b

Van Dijk, H.M., Cramm, J.M., Van Exel, J.O.B. and 
Nieboer, A.P. (2014) The ideal neighbourhood for ageing 
in place as perceived by frail and non-frail community-
dwelling older people, Ageing and Society, 35(8), 1771-
95

Ventola, CL., (2015) The antibiotic resistance crisis: part 
1: causes and threats. P T, 40(4): 277-83

Victor, C.R. and Bowling, A., (2012) A longitudinal 
analysis of loneliness among older people in Great 
Britain, Journal of Psychology, 146(3), 313-331

Victor, C.R., Scambler, S.J., Bowling, A.N.N., and 
Bond, J., (2005) The prevalence of, and risk factors for, 
loneliness in later life: a survey of older people in Great 
Britain, Ageing 
and Society, 25(6), 357-75

Wiles, J.L., Leibing, A., Guberman, N., Reeve, J. and 
Allen, R.E.S., (2012) The meaning of ‘Ageing in Place’ to 
older people, Gerontologist, 52(2), 357-66

World Health Organisation, (2010) Environment and 
health risks: a review of the influence and effects of 
social inequalities, available from <http://www.euro.who.
int/__data/assets/pdf_file/0003/78069/E93670.pdf> 
[Accessed Jan 2018]

Page 54



 
Policy and Scrutiny 

 

Open Report on behalf of Glen Garrod, Executive Director of Adult Care and 
Community Wellbeing and Derek Ward, Director of Public Health 

 

Report to: Adults and Community Wellbeing Scrutiny Committee 

Date: 30 May 2018 

Subject: Local Healthwatch Procurement 

Decision Reference:   Key decision? No   

Summary:  

This item invites the Adults and Community Wellbeing Scrutiny Committee to 
consider a report on Local Healthwatch Procurement, which is due to be 
determined by the Executive Councillor for NHS Liaison and Community 
Engagement between 1st to 7th June 2018.  The views of the Scrutiny 
Committee will be reported to the Executive Councillor, as part of her 
consideration of this item.   

 
 

Actions Required: 

(1) To consider the attached report and to determine whether the Committee 
supports the recommendation(s) to the Executive Councillor for NHS 
Liaison and Community Engagement set out in the report.   

 
(2) To agree any additional comments to be passed to the Executive 

Councillor for NHS Liaison and Community Engagement in relation to 
this item. 

 

 
1. Background
 
The Executive Councillor for NHS Liaison and Community Engagement is due to 
consider the report on Local Healthwatch Procurement and make a decision 
between 1st to 7th June 2018.  The full report to the Executive Councillor is attached 
at Appendix A to this report.    
 
2. Conclusion
 
Following consideration of the attached report, the Committee is requested to 
consider whether it supports the recommendations in the report and whether it 
wishes to make any additional comments to the Executive Councillor.  The 
Committee’s views will be reported to the Executive Councillor.   
 
 
 
 

Page 55

Agenda Item 7



 

3. Consultation 

 
 

 
 

 
 

a)  Policy Proofing Actions Required 

Not applicable. 
 

 
 

4. Appendices 

 

These are listed below and attached at the back of the report 

Appendix A Report to the Executive Councillor – Local Healthwatch 
Procurement 

 
 

5. Background Papers 
 
No background papers within Section 100D of the Local Government Act 1972 
were used in the preparation of this report. 
 
 
 
This report was written by David Stacey and Alex Craig, who can be contacted on 

01522 554017/554070 or David.Stacey@lincolnshire.gov.uk  and 
alexander.craig@lincolnshire.gov.uk. 

 

Page 56

mailto:David.Stacey@lincolnshire.gov.uk
mailto:alexander.craig@lincolnshire.gov.uk


APPENDIX A 

 
Executive Councillor 

 

Open Report on behalf of Glen Garrod, Executive Director of Adult Care and 
Community Wellbeing and Derek Ward, Director of Public Health 

 

Report to: 
Councillor Mrs S Woolley, Executive Councillor for 
NHS Liaison and Community Engagement 

Date: 1st – 7th June 2018 

Subject: Local Healthwatch Procurement  

Decision Reference: I015652  

Key decision? Yes 
 

Summary:  
 
The Council's existing grant agreement for Local Healthwatch Services in 
Lincolnshire has been in place for five years. This report gives an update on 
Local Healthwatch Services, the proposed re-commissioning and seeks 
approval to proceed with the re-procurement of this service on a grant 
agreement basis. 
 
Giving people a greater say in how the health and care system works was a 
central pillar of the coalition Government’s ambition and a key component of the 
Health and Social Care Act 2012 (“the Act”). To achieve this Government 
outlined a framework for a network of local Healthwatch organisations with the 
aim of creating a credible, representative and influential public voice in the 
system. 
 
Local authorities with adult social care responsibilities are required, under the 
Act, to commission a local Healthwatch service covering the local authority 
area. The Act also makes provision for contractual arrangements between local 
authorities and their local Healthwatch organisation however it allows flexibility 
for councils to choose the commissioning route that offers the best value for 
money in their communities. 

 
 

Recommendation(s): 
 
That the Executive Councillor 
 
1. Approves that the Local Healthwatch Service is re-procured through a 

competitive bidding process and awarded as a grant agreement;  
 

2. Approves the scope, budget and duration of the Local Healthwatch 
Service as set out in this Report; and 
 
 

Page 57



 

 
3. Delegates to the Director of Public Health in consultation with the 

Executive Councillor for NHS Liaison and Community Engagement the 
authority to determine the final form of the grant agreement, to approve 
the award of the grant and entering into the grant agreement, and any 
other legal documentation necessary to give effect to the decision set out 
in paragraphs 1 and 2 above. 

 
 

Alternatives Considered: 
 

1. Negotiate a revised grant with the current provider 
 
The current agreement has been in place since April 2013 and extended 
by two and half years. Given the relative maturity of Local Healthwatch 
Services nationally there is now a good opportunity to test the market 
whilst providing an opportunity for the existing provider to further develop 
its competitive credentials. 
 

2. Undertake a procurement in order to award a contract, rather than grant 
agreement, for the delivery of the service 
 
Due to the statutory status and duties that a Healthwatch organisation 
must adhere to there is limited justification or utility for the Council to 
establish a contract. Under a grant agreement the Council will still be 
able to ensure that service outcomes are delivered and that any failure to 
perform can be remedied while still allowing for the necessary 
independence that a Healthwatch Local organisation must have under 
law.  
 

 

Reasons for Recommendation: 
 

1. Current Agreement 
 
The current agreement has been in place since April 2013 and extended 
by two and half years. We therefore need to commence the procurement 
in order to facilitate both the bidding process and a mobilisation period 
that is sufficient to allow potential for new entrants to the market to 
mobilise effectively, and to commence the new service in October 2018. 

 
2. Market Maturity 

 
Given the relative maturity of Local Healthwatch Services across the 
country there is now a good opportunity to test the market whilst 
providing an opportunity for the existing provider to further develop its 
service model. 

 
 
 

Page 58



 

3. Independence 
 
The statutory responsibility for delivering Local Healthwatch Services sits 
with the provider of these services and not the Council. A level of 
independence from the local authority is, therefore, required in order for 
the provider to satisfactorily discharge its legal functions. 

 

 
1. Background 
 

The Council's existing grant agreement for Local Healthwatch Services in 
Lincolnshire has been in place for five years. This report gives an update on Local 
Healthwatch Services, the proposed re-commissioning and seeks approval to 
proceed with the re-procurement of this service on a grant agreement basis. 
 
Giving people a greater say in how the health and care system works was a central 
pillar of the coalition Government’s ambition and a key component of the Health 
and Social Care Act 2012 (“the Act”). To achieve this Government outlined a 
framework for a network of local Healthwatch organisations with the aim of creating 
a credible, representative and influential public voice in the system. 
 
Local Healthwatch Services 
 
Local Healthwatch organisations are overseen by the national body Healthwatch 
England, itself a statutory committee within the Care Quality Commission (CQC), 
whose purpose is to be “the independent national champion for people who use 
health and social care services … (making) sure that those running services, and 
the government, put people at the heart of care".  Healthwatch England provides 
support and advice to commissioners as well as providers of Local Healthwatch 
Services and they have been supporting the work in Lincolnshire, most recently in 
providing advice regarding the specification for the service moving forward. 
 
Local Healthwatch gathers people's views (whether current users or not) and 
experiences of the health and social care system. This can help commissioners 
and services providers to be more responsive to what matters to service users, 
carers and the public, and enable them to design services around their needs. In 
this way, community views will have real influence with those who commission and 
provide services. 
 
The Act sets out the statutory activities that Local Healthwatch organisations are 
required to undertake. These are: 
 

 promoting, and supporting, the involvement of people in the commissioning, 
provision and scrutiny of local care services; 

 enabling people to monitor the standard of provision of local care services, 
including how services could or ought to be improved; 

 obtaining the views of people about their needs for, and their experiences 
of, local care services; and 

Page 59



 

 making views known, and reports and recommendations about how local 
care services could or ought to be improved, to persons responsible for 
commissioning, providing, managing or scrutinising local care services. 

 
Local Healthwatch have the power to conduct 'Enter and View' visits in health and 
care settings. However, 'Enter and View' is not a statutory function of local 
Healthwatch but is a tool to help them carry out their activities e.g. by gathering 
views from people who use services. 
 
Additional functions introduced for local Healthwatch organisations include the 
need to: 
 

 Provide advice and information about access to local care services and 
about choices that may be made with respect to aspects of those services. 

 Reach views on the standard of provision of local care services, and 
whether, and how, local care services could or ought to be improved. 

 Make those views known to Healthwatch England. 

 Make recommendations to Healthwatch England to advise the Care Quality 
Commission about special reviews or investigations to conduct (or, where 
the circumstances justify doing so, make such recommendations direct to 
the Care Quality Commission). 

 Make recommendations to Healthwatch England that it should publish a 
report on a particular health or social care matter. 

 Give Healthwatch England such assistance as it may require enabling it to 
carry out its functions effectively, efficiently and economically. 

 
National guidance instructs us that for local Healthwatch to deliver services 
successfully, it must be:  
 

 Independent - a free-standing body which is ethical, trusted and respected 
by residents and stakeholders 

 Transparent – operate openly and involve the public in decision-making 

 Inclusive and representative – champion the voice of the user and be 
representative of the local population 

 Accountable – work to a clear vision and purpose described in appropriate 
policies and procedures to ensure accountability to the public and 
commissioners 

 Knowledgeable – have expertise of health and social care services gained 
from the personal or professional experience of its board, staff and 
volunteers 

 Influential – a robust and credible organisation that can demonstrate its 
impact in improving local outcomes 

 Evidence based – use robust, local evidence as the basis for priority setting 
and reporting processes 

 Recognisable – have a clear identity which is distinct from other local 
organisations 

 Networked – maintain strong relationships with a variety of local and 
regional statutory, voluntary and provider agencies 

Page 60



 

 Prudent – demonstrate efficient use of its resources to meet agreed 
priorities 

 Committed to continuous improvement - actively seek feedback on its own 
performance and make service improvements, where required. 

 
Local Healthwatch services in Lincolnshire will be expected to work within this 
framework. 
 
Commercial Approach 
 

Local authorities with adult social care responsibilities are required, under the Act, 
to commission a local Healthwatch service covering the local authority area. The 
Act also makes provision for contractual arrangements between local authorities 
and their local Healthwatch organisation however it allows flexibility for councils to 
choose the commissioning route that offers the best value for money in their 
communities. 
 
During the initial setup period “councils took different approaches to commissioning 
local Healthwatch, which variously involved tendering processes, or a grant-funded 
route” (Local Government Association, 2012).  In Lincolnshire a grant funded route 
was pursued which established Healthwatch Lincolnshire as a freestanding 
corporate body in order to deliver the statutory duties defined within the Act. 
 
Whilst grants are legal agreements in their own right they are not subject to public 
procurement law, and have different characteristics to a standard service contract;  
 

What is a contract? 
 
A contract for services between a public authority and a provider is essentially a 
legally enforceable agreement between those parties under which the provider 
provides services in return for payment. The services may be provided either 
directly to the public authority or to third parties. In the latter case the provider 
would provide services to individuals on a public authority’s behalf in return for 
payment by the public authority.  
 
A contract will contain a description of the complete service, known as a 
specification. This is one side of the agreed promise. Once the specification is met, 
the other side of the promise needs to be met, i.e. payment. All parties need to fulfil 
their side of the promise to fulfil the contract. If either party fails to meet its 
obligations, there would be a breach of the contractual relationship which could 
result in compensation being paid by the party in breach which amount could be 
more than the value of the contract. Typically contracts that the Council put in 
place would also have detailed and complex performance management 
procedures including service credits, liquidated and ascertained damages or profit 
sharing mechanisms. A grant agreement would not be able to contain these types 
of contractual measures.  
 
What is a grant? 
 
A grant is a specific amount of funding given to an organisation for specific activity 

Page 61



 

to be delivered within a specific time frame. HMRC defines a grant as “a financial 
transfer used to fund an activity which is in broad alignment with the funder’s 
objectives”. The funder receives the outcomes stated as grant conditions in return 
for this and unless, the grant agreement is a deed, the funder is under no 
obligation to pay. Similarly if the grant funded organisation fails to deliver the stated 
outcomes or uses those funds for activities beyond the scope of the agreement the 
funder can 'claw back' those funds. There exists a grey area between what 
constitutes a grant or a contract however if there is a predominance of financial 
and legal consequence to both parties then it is likely to amount to contract.   

 

 
Given the conditions of how a Healthwatch Local organisation must operate under 
the Health and Social Care Act and that the Council is similarly bound under the 
Act to fund a service the recommendation is that this service should continue to 
operate as a grant agreement. This will enable the Council to ensure there is 
funding and support for a Local Healthwatch service; that the Local Healthwatch 
organisation has sufficient independence, but also there is adequate commercial 
oversight and control through the conditions of the grant agreement 
 
Under the Public Contracts Regulations 2015, any re-commissioning and 
procurement of Local Healthwatch Services should follow the general duty to 
comply with the principles of fair competition, equal treatment and non-
discrimination. For this reason there will still be a competitive bidding process as 
part of awarding the grant and due to the value of the grant will also still be subject 
to a formal decision by the Council to proceed to procurement. However as the 
proposed agreement is a grant rather than a contract there is additional flexibility 
available to the Council in determining timescales, the conditions of competition but 
also greatly reduces the risk of any potential challenge.  
 
A competitive bidding process will have a number of benefits including its ability to 
test the market, investigate  potential for financial efficiencies and enable creativity 
and innovation whilst providing an opportunity for the existing provider to further 
develop its competitive credentials. This process will also be in line with one of the 
guiding principles of the Localism Act 2011 by ensuring that local social enterprises 
and community groups with local solutions have the opportunity to be heard, 
bringing decision making closer to those affected and driving improvement in local 
services.  
 
There has also been some market testing through issuing a questionnaire to the 
wider market to gauge the level of interest to ask some specific questions related 
to governance and outcomes for the Local Healthwatch Services.  
 
Six organisations have responded to the questionnaire with five indicating a desire 
to put in a bid for the opportunity. This shows a good level of interest at this stage 
and is sufficient to carry out an effective competition. Further feedback from 
interested parties can be summarised as follows.  
 

 All interested parties at this stage meet the statutory requirements to be able 
to operate as a Local Healthwatch 

Page 62



 

 The majority of interested parties have experience of delivering Local 
Healthwatch services across more than one local authority area 

 Strong appreciation of the draft specification and service objectives 

 That the proposed funding envelope for the service is reasonable 
 
More detailed feedback will be analysed further and taken into consideration for the 
final drafting of Bid documents.  
 
Grant Commencement and Duration 
 
The intention is to have in place a new grant agreement for the Local Healthwatch 
Service on the 01 October 2018. The timescales are set out in the table below: 
 

Issue of bidding documentation No later than 18 June 2018 

Evaluation of bids 23 July 2018 to 29 July 2018 

Grant award date 09 August 2018 

Mobilisation period 10 August 2018 to 30 September 2018 

Go live 01 October 2018 

 
It is proposed that the grant agreement will be for a period of three years with the 
option to extend this by further periods of 12 months up to a maximum of 36 
months.  
 
Budget 
 
The annual budget for the Local Healthwatch Service is currently £300,000. In 
2017/18 this was made up of £192,108 from the national Local Reform and 
Community Voices Grant with the remainder of the funding (£107,892) being 
provided through County Council budgets.  
 
The future budget to be allocated to local Healthwatch services in Lincolnshire is 
proposed to remain at £300,000. As the majority of the budget for this service 
comes from a grant from central government there is a risk that, should this grant 
be altered by central government, the service would see a considerable reduction 
in its funding that may make it unsustainable. In order to mitigate this risk the 
proposed start date will allow, in future years, for the Council and the provider to 
have a significant amount of time to negotiate and agree a way forward. 
Additionally, the grant agreement will be worded in such a way as to allow a break 
clause to be enacted should such an eventuality happen. 
 
The provider will also be encouraged to identify additional income streams through 
delivery of certain trading activities, such as training and commissioned evaluation, 
survey and research work. They will also be expected to ensure this does not 
interfere with their delivery of the main service itself.   
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 63



 

2. Legal Issues: 
 
Equality Act 2010 
 
Under section 149 of the Equality Act 2010, the Council must, in the exercise of its 
functions, have due regard to the need to: 
 

 Eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other conduct 
that is prohibited by or under the Act 

 Advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant 
protected characteristic and persons who do not share it 

 Foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected 
characteristic and persons who do not share it. 

 
The relevant protected characteristics are age; disability; gender reassignment; 
pregnancy and maternity; race; religion or belief; sex; and sexual orientation 
Having due regard to the need to advance equality of opportunity involves having 
due regard, in particular, to the need to: 
 

 Remove or minimise disadvantages suffered by persons who share a 
relevant protected characteristic that are connected to that characteristic 

 Take steps to meet the needs of persons who share a relevant protected 
characteristic that are different from the needs of persons who do not share 
it 

 Encourage persons who share a relevant protected characteristic to 
participate in public life or in any other activity in which participation by such 
persons is disproportionately low 

 
The steps involved in meeting the needs of disabled persons that are different from 
the needs of persons who are not disabled include, in particular, steps to take 
account of disabled persons' disabilities.   
 
Having due regard to the need to foster good relations between persons who share 
a relevant protected characteristic and persons who do not share it involves having 
due regard, in particular, to the need to tackle prejudice, and promote 
understanding. 
 
Compliance with the duties in section 149 may involve treating some persons more 
favourably than others. 
 
The duty cannot be delegated and must be discharged by the decision-maker.  To 
discharge the statutory duty the decision-maker must analyse all the relevant 
material with the specific statutory obligations in mind.  If a risk of adverse impact is 
identified consideration must be given to measures to avoid that impact as part of 
the decision making process.  
 
 
 
 
 

Page 64



 

Local Healthwatch governing bodies will also be expected to conform to the Nolan 
principles of standards in public life. As they provide public functions, they will have 
duties under the Equality Act 2010 and the Freedom of Information Act and 
safeguarding responsibilities when they come into contact with vulnerable adults 
and children. 

As such, Local Healthwatch Services in Lincolnshire will be accessible to all, 
universally and equally across the county. They will take a pro-active approach to 
gather the views and experiences of local people, including reaching our most 
‘seldom heard’ groups and those with protected characteristics under the Equality 
Act. 

 

Joint Strategic Needs Analysis (JSNA and the Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 
(JHWS) 

The Council must have regard to the Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA) 
and the Joint Health & Well Being Strategy (JHWS) in coming to a decision. 

 
Every Health and Wellbeing Board has a responsibility to undertake a JSNA and, 
based on the evidence included in the JSNA, a JHWS. Healthwatch are a statutory 
member of the Health and Wellbeing Board and, as such, are directly involved in 
the production and governance associated with both the JSNA and JHWS in 
Lincolnshire. 
 
The provider will work collaboratively with the Lincolnshire Health and Wellbeing 
Board and JSNA partners/JHWS Delivery groups to provide authoritative, 
evidence-based feedback, that will inform and impact on a number of JSNA topics. 
This might include, for example, feedback from service users generated from using 
their powers to 'enter and view' health and care services, as well as ensuring that 
the views, experiences and priorities of local people support and inform these 
processes.  
 

 

Crime and Disorder 

Under section 17 of the Crime and Disorder Act 1998, the Council must exercise its 
various functions with due regard to the likely effect of the exercise of those 
functions on, and the need to do all that it reasonably can to prevent crime and 
disorder in its area (including anti-social and other behaviour adversely affecting 
the local environment), the misuse of drugs, alcohol and other substances in its 
area and re-offending in its area 

 

 

Section 17 matters have been taken into account in preparing the Report.  The 
Proposals in this Report do not directly contribute to the furtherance of the section 
17 matters and there is no risk of adverse impact identified. 

Page 65



 

3. Conclusion

 
The Council's existing grant agreement for Local Healthwatch Services in 
Lincolnshire has been in place for five years. The time is right to test the market 
providing an opportunity for the existing provider to further develop its service 
model via competition but also to ensure the Council and Lincolnshire residents 
receive the best possible service. 
 
Local Healthwatch has a legal duty to gather peoples' views (whether current users 
or not) and experiences of the health and social care system. Having considered 
alternative procurement routes the recommendation is that this service should 
continue to operate as a grant agreement. Given the statutory requirements for 
delivering Local Healthwatch Services sits with the provider of these services and 
not the Council, a level of independence from the local authority is required in order 
for the provider to satisfactorily discharge its legal duties. 
 

4. Legal Comments: 
 

The Council has the power to enter into the contract proposed. 
 
The procurement law implications and the other matters to which the Executive 
Director for Adults and Community Wellbeing must have regard are dealt with in 
detail in the Report. 
 
The decision is consistent with the Policy Framework and within the remit of the 
Executive if it is within the budget. 
 

 

5. Resource Comments: 
 

The Council's existing grant agreement for Local Healthwatch Services in 
Lincolnshire has been in place for five years.  This report recommends that the 
Local Healthwatch Service is re-procured at an annual cost of £300,000 funded 
partly via Reform and Community Voices Grant with the remainder of the funding 
being provided through County Council base budgets.  The report identifies that 
grant funding is not guaranteed in the long term and members will need to 
consider how this service should be funded in the event that this funding ceases.   
  
I can a confirm that the decision to delegate the final decision on a procurement of 
this value to the Director of Public Health in consultation with the Executive 
Councillor or NHS Liaison and Community Engagement is consistent with the 
rules laid out in the County Council's Financial Regulations and Procedures. 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 66



 

6. Consultation 

 
a)  Has Local Member Been Consulted? 

N/A 
 

b)  Has Executive Councillor Been Consulted?  

Yes 

c)  Scrutiny Comments 

This Report will be considered by the Adults and Community Wellbeing Scrutiny 
Committee on 30 May 2018 and the comments of the Committee will be reported 
to the Executive Councillor for NHS Liaison and Community Engagement.  

 

 

 
 

d)  Have Risks and Impact Analysis been carried out?? 

 Yes 

e)  Risks and Impact Analysis 

 See the body of the report 
 

 
7. Background Papers 
 
 

Document title 
 
Healthwatch maintaining 
independence 

Where the document can be viewed 
 
https://www.healthwatch.co.uk/resource/maintaining-
independence  

 
 
 
This report was written by David Stacey and Alex Craig, who can be contacted on 

01522 554017/554070 or David.Stacey@lincolnshire.gov.uk and 
alexander.craig@lincolnshire.gov.uk . 

 

 

Page 67

https://www.healthwatch.co.uk/resource/maintaining-independence
https://www.healthwatch.co.uk/resource/maintaining-independence
mailto:David.Stacey@lincolnshire.gov.uk
mailto:alexander.craig@lincolnshire.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



 

     Policy and Scrutiny 

Open Report on behalf of Richard Wills, the Director responsible for 
Democratic Services 

Report to: Adults and Community Wellbeing Scrutiny Committee 

Date: 30 May 2018 

Subject: 
Lincolnshire Safeguarding Boards Scrutiny Sub-
Group – Update  

Decision Reference:   Key decision? No   

Summary:  

This report enables the Adults and Community Wellbeing Scrutiny Committee to 
have an overview of the activities of the Lincolnshire Safeguarding Boards 
Scrutiny Sub-Group, in particular the Sub-Group’s consideration of adult 
safeguarding matters. The draft minutes of the last meeting of the Scrutiny 
Sub-Group held on 16 April 2018 are attached.   

 
 

Actions Required: 

That the draft minutes of the meeting of the Lincolnshire Safeguarding Boards 
Scrutiny Sub-Group, held on 16 April 2018, be endorsed. 
 

 
1. Background 
 
The Lincolnshire Safeguarding Boards Scrutiny Sub-Group considers both adult and 
children safeguarding matters, in particular focusing on the activities of the 
Lincolnshire Safeguarding Adults Board and the Lincolnshire Safeguarding Children 
Board. 
 
The last meeting of the Sub-Group was held on 16 April 2018 and the draft minutes 
are attached at Appendix A to this report.  As the remit of the Adults and Community 
Wellbeing Scrutiny Committee includes adult safeguarding, the Committee is 
requested to focus on those minutes of the Sub-Group, which are relevant to this 
remit. 
 
2. Conclusion 
 
The draft minutes appended to this report are for the Committee's information. 
 
3. Consultation 
 

 
a)  Have Risks and Impact Analysis been carried out? 

No 
 
 
 

Page 69

Agenda Item 8



 

b)  Risks and Impact Analysis 

Not Applicable 
 

 

4. Appendices 

 

These are listed below and attached at the back of the report 

Appendix A Draft Minutes of the Lincolnshire Safeguarding Boards Scrutiny 
Sub-Group held on 16 April 2018 

 
5. Background Papers 
 
No background papers within Section 100D of the Local Government Act 1972 were 
used in the preparation of this report. 
 
This report was written by Andrea Brown, who can be contacted on 01522 553787 or 

andrea.brown@lincolnshire.gov.uk. 

Page 70

mailto:andrea.brown@lincolnshire.gov.uk


  1 

APPENDIX A 

 
 

 

 

 
Lincolnshire County Council: Councillor R Wootten 
 
Representative appointed by Police and Crime Commissioner: Marc Jones 
 
Representative appointed by Local NHS organisation: Andrew Burton 
 
No Councillors attended the meeting as observers 
 
Officers in attendance:- 
 
Andrea Brown (Democratic Services Officer), Chris Cook OBE (Independent 
Chairman of the Lincolnshire Safeguarding Children Board), Barry Earnshaw 
(Independent Chairman, Lincolnshire Safeguarding Adults Board), Simon Evans 
(Health Scrutiny Officer), Dan Hawbrook (LSCB E-Safety Officer), Michelle Morris 
(LSAB Policy & Audit Officer) and Clare Rowley (Lincolnshire Safeguarding Children 
Board Business Manager) 
 
20     APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE/REPLACEMENT MEMBERS 

 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Mrs W Bowkett, R L Foulkes, 
Mrs C J Lawton and Mrs S Waring. 
 
Apologies for absence were also received from Malcolm Burch who was replaced by 
Marc Jones (Police and Crime Commissioner). 
 
21     DECLARATIONS OF MEMBERS' INTERESTS 

 
There were no declarations of Councillors' interests. 
 
22     MINUTES OF THE MEETING OF THE LINCOLNSHIRE SAFEGUARDING 

BOARDS SCRUTINY SUB-GROUP HELD ON 15 JANUARY 2018 
 

It was noted that the attendance of B Earnshaw (Chairman of the Lincolnshire 
Safeguarding Adults Board) and C Cook OBE (Chairman of the Lincolnshire 
Safeguarding Children's Board) had been omitted from the minutes. 
 
The Chairman advised that she also had some small amendments to make but did 
not have these to hand.  It was agreed to provide these to the Democratic Services 
Officer after the meeting and to approve the minutes at the next meeting. 

Page 71



2 

 
RESOLVED 
 
 That the minutes of the meeting of the Lincolnshire Safeguarding Boards 

Scrutiny Sub-Group, with the amendments noted above, be deferred for 
agreement to the next meeting. 

 
23     KEY MESSAGES FROM THE LINCOLNSHIRE SAFEGUARDING ADULTS 

BOARD 
 

Consideration was given to a report which provided an update on the key issues from 
the Lincolnshire Safeguarding Adults Board (LSAB) held on 14 March 2018.   
 
Barry Earnshaw (LSAB Chairman) introduced the report which included updates on 
the following areas:- 

  LSAB Independent Chair Briefing; 

  Safeguarding Lincolnshire Together (SLT) Programme; and 

  Development of the LSAB Strategy 2018/19 – 2020/21. 
 
It was explained that the LSAB had responsibility for working with partner agencies to 
ensure efficient and safe arrangements for those people with mental health issues.  
Work continued with Lincolnshire Partnership NHS Foundation Trust (LPFT) to 
ensure these arrangements were in place.  The Care Quality Commission (CQC) had 
identified that LPFT had previously needed to improve and, following extensive work 
with the LSAB, LPFT had now been rated 'Good' following re-inspection.  
 
It was confirmed that partnership working with Lincolnshire Police had always been 
exceptionally good, both strategically and operationally. 
 
Having had a vacancy within the service for a County Safeguarding Manager for 
some time, the Chairman of the LSAB was pleased to report that the position had 
been filled and the successful candidate would take up post at the end of April 2018. 
 
During discussion, the following points were noted:- 

  Most of the work undertaken by the LSAB was using a multi-agency approach 
with all agencies invited to contribute both strategically and operationally.  
Safeguarding plans were being looked at to ensure that the overarching plan 
for the county supported individual agencies in the future; 

  The Chairman suggested that it would be helpful to have a list of attendees at 
the LSAB Board meeting on 14 March 2018; 

  Members were assured that the implementation of Mosaic had not had any 
impact on safeguarding and had, helpfully, provided wider scope to gather 
information; 

  The safeguarding team had reported that they had total confidence in the data 
collection facility within Mosaic.  An additional spreadsheet alongside Mosaic 
had previously been completed in the event of a system failure.  Confidence in 
Mosaic was such that this additional data collection had now ceased; 

Page 72



3 

 

  Although Lincolnshire Police had a different system they did use a 'Stop 
Abuse' form to report safeguarding issues.  Work was ongoing with the police 
currently as some cases referred were not safeguarding issues; 

  LPFT were able to report directly into Mosaic and the system also had the 
capability to rollout portals to each agency to allow direct input also; 

  Despite having a diversity strategy across all services within safeguarding, 
community cohesion was not directly covered.  One member expressed 
concern that some nationalities isolated themselves which could result in 
safeguarding concerns.  It was reported that the Board worked closely with the 
District safeguarding teams and indicated that they would be pleased to raise 
this concern with them directly.  The concern could also be raised with 
Healthwatch colleagues as they also hold a network of meetings across the 
county with hard to reach groups; 

 
RESOLVED 
 
 That the report and contents be noted. 
 
24     REPORT OF OBSERVATION OF LINCOLNSHIRE SAFEGUARDING 

ADULTS BOARD - 14 MARCH 2018 
 

Unfortunately, Councillor Mrs S Waring had submitted apologies for this meeting and 
was, therefore, unable to provide an update.  It was agreed that this would be 
received at the next meeting. 
 
The Chairman of the Lincolnshire Safeguarding Children Board, Chris Cook OBE, 
advised that he would be happy for any observers from the Sub-Group to participate 
in the meeting also should they wish to do so.  This invitation was welcomed, 
however it was agreed that attending as an observer rather than a participant gave 
an overall view of the dynamics of the meeting. 
 
RESOLVED 
 
 That the report of observation of Lincolnshire Safeguarding Adults Board held 

on 14 March 2018 be deferred to the next meeting. 
 
25     SAFEGUARDING ADULTS REVIEWS 

 
Consideration was given to a report which provided an update on the Safeguarding 
Adults Reviews (SARs) currently being undertaken.   
 
David Culy (Lincolnshire Safeguarding Adults Board (LSAB) Business Manager) 
introduced the report and confirmed that the information supplied was limited due to 
ongoing police investigations and data protection issues. 
 
During discussion, the following points were noted:- 

  Although time would be taken by the independent authors of SARs in 
producing a thorough report and recommendations, members were reassured 

Page 73



4 

 
that all agencies involved in SARs would not wait for the report before 
considering improvements and how issues could have been avoided; 

  A 'lessons learnt' event had been arranged for 17 May 2018 which would 
focus on Modern Day Slavery.  It was reported that key agencies would be 
involved and that this would be led by Lincolnshire Police.  United Lincolnshire 
Hospitals NHS Trust and clinical commissioning groups would also be 
involved in the facilitation of this event; 

  The Police and Crime Commissioner also advised that an event on Modern 
Day Slavery was to be held on 24 May 2018 aimed at Lincolnshire businesses 
and how to avoid modern day slavery within the supply chain.  This was a free 
event and would be held at the New Life Centre in Sleaford; 

  Although Operation Pottery was a successful operation and had raised the 
profile of modern day slavery across the country and, particularly in 
Lincolnshire, it was important to acknowledge that this issue had not stopped.  
Work was ongoing to find out how these situations could escalate to such 
severe level without detection; 

  It was also stressed that modern day slavery could take a number of forms 
and was not necessarily related to migrant workers only; and 

  The Chairman suggested that the Sub-Group hold a session in relation to 
modern day slavery in order to better understand the wider issues. 

 
RESOLVED 

1.  That the report and contents be noted; and 
2.  That further consideration to holding a session in relation to Modern Day 

Slavery at a future meeting be given. 
 
26     UPDATE ON THE WORK OF THE LINCOLNSHIRE SAFEGUARDING 

CHILDREN BOARD AND ITS SUB-GROUPS 
 

Consideration was given to a report which provided an update on the work currently 
being undertaken by the Lincolnshire Safeguarding Children Board (LSCB) and its 
sub-groups. 
 
The LSCB had six sub-groups, all of which remained active and well-attended:- 

  Child Death Overview Panel; 

  Serious Incident Review Group; 

  Policy, Procedure, Education and Training Sub-Group; 

  Child Exploitation Sub-Group; 

  Education Sub-Group; and 

  Performance and Quality Assurance Tri-Board Sub-Group. 
 
The new Working Together was expected to be published in May 2018 with 
implementation from September 2019, following the Wood Review, which would 
establish a Shadow Assurance Executive to sit above the Strategic Management 
Group.  Members acknowledged that these were proposals for shadow arrangements 
until the statutory guidance came into force.  The first meeting of the Shadow 
Executive was scheduled for 30 April 2018. 

Page 74



5 

 

 
The new Business Plan included a vision for the partnership and principles for 
working.  A small amount of work was required before a final agreement would be 
reached by the Strategic Management Group prior to ratification at the AGM on 24 
May 2018. 
 
Members were invited to ask questions, during which the following points were 
noted:- 

  It was reported that Nottingham County and Nottingham City were to merge 
their Overview Panels and consideration was being given for Lincolnshire to 
also link with Nottingham to enable effective research; 

  It was confirmed that training for taxi drivers was for both children and adults 
safeguarding; and 

  The Police and Crime Commissioner advised that training by PCSOs, with a 
booklet entitled 'Junior Eyes' was delivered to over 100 schools in 
Lincolnshire.  This initiative was run from premises in Colsterworth currently 
and work was ongoing to find out how this could link with other actvities.  
Details of the scheme would be provided to the Lincolnshire Safeguarding 
Children Board Business Manager). 

 
RESOLVED 
 
 That the report and contents be noted. 
 
27     REPORT OF OBSERVATION OF LINCOLNSHIRE SAFEGUARDING 

CHILDREN BOARD STRATEGIC MANAGEMENT GROUP - 8 MARCH 
2018 
 

Consideration was given to a report by the Vice-Chairman, Councillor R L Foulkes, 
which was circulated in his absence. 
 
The report provided an overview of the Lincolnshire Safeguarding Children Board 
Strategic Management Group meeting held on 8 March 2018.  The report followed 
the checklist agreed by the sub-group and covered the following areas:- 

  Apologies and Substitutions; 

  Agenda – logical and topical?  
o 18 agenda items; 
o Next meeting – Thursday 14th June 2018 at 9.30am; 
o Prevent presentation given which had been thorough and interesting; 
o County Lines presentation by Lincolnshire Police which explained the 

consequences of out-of-area gangs in conflict with the local 
underworld; 

o It was concluded that the agenda was both logical and topical but 
that the meeting was chaired in such a way that it helped the flow of 
the meeting and ensure that those present were attentive and able to 
contribute; 

 Support and Challenge – evidence between agencies? 
o There was strong support and challenge between agencies; 

Page 75



6 

 
o The Executive Director for Children's Services (LCC) had been 

particularly challenging in relation to the SCR update; 
o A task group on neglect/domestic abuse would report to the AGM on 

24 May 2018; 
o The Performance Scorecard was challenged with a suggestion that 

an indicator may be missing and a proposal made to consider what 
indicators were required at the AGM; 

o Wood Review – challenged that there might be a risk in the new 
structure and that lines of communication may be blurred.  It was 
suggested that  the sub-group review this regularly to ensure 
effective communications do take place; 

 Level of meeting – strategic 
o The report relating to the S11 Update was complimented as a good 

piece of work by the LSCB Policy and Audit Officer; 
o The meeting did, at one point, move to a detailed discussions on a 

particular subject.  The Chairman had been quick to remind members 
to keep a strategic focus and to discuss specific details after the 
meeting; 

 Contributions – did everyone participate? 
o Overall, the impression was that all present were focussed on 

safeguarding children and the meeting was open to full and free 
discussions where all members were able to make a contribution; 

o It was reported that the meeting had a positive feel and the chairman 
had been a very good facilitator who maintained a good sense of 
rigour; 

o The LCSB Business Manager was thought to have good control of 
the Board's affairs and was reported to be a very good Business 
Manager. 

 
During discussion, the following points were noted:- 

  General attendance at the meetings was usually excellent and, despite the 
number of apologies, the room was full.  It was confirmed that there were four 
substitutions and that one of the apologies given was not from a member of 
the Board; 

  Despite the number of apologies, it was noted that no item of business had to 
be deferred due to non-attendance of relevant partners; 

  In relation to the Performance Scorecard, it was explained that the indicators 
had been set some time ago and that the AGM would present an opportunity 
to refresh these to include outcome focussed indicators.  A seating plan would 
also be developed to ensure a good mix of agency input; and 

  The Board was not an operational delivery body and therefore the key 
agencies had a large performance framework to work to in their own areas.  
The Board would, however, provide the agencies with the six key indicators 
required to safeguard children. 

 
RESOLVED 
 
 That the update be noted. 

Page 76



7 

 

28     LINCOLNSHIRE SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN BOARD (LSCB) POLICY 
AND AUDIT UPDATE 
 

Consideration was given to a report which provided an overview of the policy and 
audit development of the Lincolnshire Safeguarding Children Board. 
 
The LSCB Business Manager introduced the report which focussed on the two 
statutory functions of the board under Regulation 5 of the LSCBs Regulations 2006 – 
developing policies and procedures for safeguarding and promoting the welfare of 
children in the area of the authority; and monitoring and evaluation the effectiveness 
of what is done by the authority and their Board partners individually and collectively. 
 
Since the last meeting of the sub-group, the following policies had been developed or 
reviewed and uploaded to the policy manual:- 

 LSCB Joint Protocol for Missing Children and Young People; and 

 Pre-birth Protocol. 
 
The following policies were under consideration, review of in development:- 

 Harmful Sexual Behaviour; 

 Sexual Harassment and Sexual Violence in Schools; 

 Mobile families; 

 Safeguarding Children who may have been Trafficked; 

 Adolescent to Parent Violence and Abuse; and 

 Child Sexual Abuse in the Family Environment. 
 
The report also covered the following areas:- 

 Joint Lincolnshire Protocol to Reduce Offending and the Criminalisation of 
Children in Care Launch; 

 LSCB Audit Programme; and 

 Section 11 Audit. 
 
Members were advised that consideration was also being given to extending the 
work of the Joint Lincolnshire Protocol to Reduce Offending and the Criminalisation 
of Children in Care to include those who leave care at the age of 18. 
 
During consideration of the report, the following points were noted:- 

 It was confirmed that the Child Exploitation Sub-Group would also consider 
care leavers up to the age of 25.  It was suggested that other areas may need 
to consider an extension of the age limit for their services; 

 Clarification was given that the policies referred to were updated and not new; 

 Although there was representation from Lincolnshire Police on the policy sub-
group, it was agreed that a representative from the Police and Crime 
Commissioners Office would also be beneficial; and 

 It was suggested that the Mobile Families policy be retitled to be clear about 
the policy content as the title currently implied this related to the Traveller 
community only. 

Page 77



8 

 
RESOLVED 
 
 That the report be noted. 
 
29     E-SAFETY 

 
The Sub-Group received a presentation from Dan Hawbrook (LSCB E-Safety Officer) 
which included the following information:- 

  Previous Technology; 

  What apps do you use? 

  What have we offered? – multi agency days for secondary schools; Year 6 
transition workshops; factsheets for parents and professionals; multi agency 
training session for professionals; Young Person led development days; Junit 
Online Safety Officers; 

  Monthly Factsheets (www.lincolnshire.gov.uk/lscb); 

  Young Person Development Days; Student led activities – lesson plan and 
resources available at LSCB website; 

  Junior Online Safety Officer (JOSO) – targets for year 5 students; being 
trialled with 14 schools at present and will be evaluated in the summers; 
students set challenges to deliver in their school after receiving two training 
sessions; work to be submitted and graded; 

  MAD Days 2017/18 – every secondary school offered two full days; sessions 
target year 7/9 or year 9/10; 71% of Lincolnshire secondary schools booked; 3 
special schools have or will receive a MAD Day; 

  Year 7 and 8 lessons – focus on strangers and online grooming; 3101 
students received an online safety session; 99.2% felt the information was 
helpful; 99.5% felt it was well delivered and explained; 98.4% felt it would 
change their future actions; 

  Year 9 and 10 lessons – focus on sexting; 2580 students received an online 
safety session; 99.5% felt the information was helpful; 99.7% felt it was well 
delivered and explained; 99% felt it would change their future actions; 

  Year 6 Transition Workshops – 100 schools booked since February 2017; 
designed to support students using social media to make the transition to 
secondary school – a need identified by professionals and in the media; 

  Year 6 Transition Workshops – 66% prior knowledge of students; 95% post 
knowledge of students; 98.1% felt the information was helpful; 100% felt it was 
well delivered and explained; 100% felt it would change their future actions; 

  "Jess just came in and said someone she was talking to on Roblox last night 
started asking her name and 'stuff'.  Because of your talk on Monday, she 
unfriended them and left the game.  Thought you'd like to know"; 

  Questions? 
 
It was further noted that engagement with parents had been an issue for a number of 
years.  A series of videos had been created specifically targeted at parents to 
highlight high risk issues faced by young people online.  It was hoped these videos 
would be launched in the Summer 2018. 
 

Page 78

http://www.lincolnshire.gov.uk/lscb


9 

 

Members were impressed by the presentation and the work already undertaken by 
the E-Safety Officer.  During discussion, the following points were noted:- 

  Schools acknowledged that E-safety was a serious issue and did, generally, 
try to address this with students although this had not always been 
documented and evidenced; 

  Separate focus was needed on the secondary age group in order to address 
issues faced by older children; 

  Until evaluated, it was difficult to report how the Junior Online Safety Officer 
scheme would be best rolled out; 

  The secondment of the E-Safety Officer to the Stay Safe Partnership within 
secondary schools had been, previously, predominantly in primary schools.  It 
was hoped that as this role was now part of a larger, developing team, that 
more areas could be given focus; 

  It was agreed that there was a societal need for young people, and parents, to 
be aware of the law and consequences of online activity.  The Police and 
Crime Commissioner indicated that he would like to attend one of the 
sessions; 

  Members liked the fact that the sessions were child focussed but agreed that 
careful discussions about the consequences of mental health, as a result of 
photographs and self-image for example being a deemed as bullying where 
they aren't 'liked' or commented on, should also be undertaken; 

  Concern was raised that not all Year 7 students will have received one of the 
sessions.  Unfortunately, the schools provided their availability therefore it was 
difficult to ensure that every child was reached.  It was hoped that those who 
had the session would challenge those who had not, thereby making the 
message more powerful if given by a peer; 

  It was agreed to write a letter to those schools who were less engaged, from 
the Chairman of the LSCB, Police and Crime Commissioner and Portfolio 
Holder for Adult Care, Health and Children's Services to promote the 
importance of this resource and to stress that it was free. 

 
The Chairman thanked the E-Safety Officer for the presentation which had stimulated 
a good debate and issues for further consideration. 
 
RESOLVED 

1.  That the presentation be noted; and 
2.  That the Sub-Group's suggestion for a joint letter to be sent to less engaged 

schools to promote E-Safety sessions be agreed. 
 
30     LINCOLNSHIRE SAFEGUARDING BOARDS SCRUTINY SUB-GROUP 

WORK PROGRAMME 
 

The Sub-Group considered a report outlining its future work programme and the 
additions made during the meeting. 
 
Members were advised that Councillor A P Maughan had resigned from the Sub-
Group which had resulted in the requirement for an observer to attend the LSCB 
Strategic Management Group meeting on 14 June 2018.  Councillor R Wootten 

Page 79



10 

 
indicated that he may be able to observe this meeting and would confirm with the 
Health Scrutiny Officer after the meeting. 
 
The Chairman indicated that she would attend the LSCB Strategic Management 
Group Meeting scheduled for 13 September 2018. 
 
RESOLVED 
 
 That the Work Programme of the Lincolnshire Safeguarding Boards Scrutiny 

Sub-Group be agreed. 
 
 
The meeting closed at 12.34 pm. 

Page 80



 
 

Policy and Scrutiny 
 

Open Report on behalf of Richard Wills,  
Director Responsible for Democratic Services 

 

Report to: Adults and Community Wellbeing Scrutiny Committee 

Date: 30 May 2018 

Subject: 
Adults and Community Wellbeing Scrutiny Committee 
Work Programme  

Decision Reference:   Key decision? No   

Summary:  

This item enables the Committee to consider its work programme, which is 
reviewed at each meeting.  Members of the Committee are encouraged to 
highlight items that could be included for consideration.  
 
 

Actions Required: 

The Committee is invited to review, consider and comment on the work 
programme; and highlight any additional scrutiny activity which could be 
included for consideration in the work programme. 
 

 
1. Background 
 
Today's Work Programme 
 
Set out below are the items on the Committee's agenda today: -  

 

30 May 2018 – 10.00am  

Item Contributor(s) 

Annual Report of the Director of Public 
Health 

Derek Ward, Director of Public Health 

Presentation on the Role of the Director 
of Public Health 

Derek Ward, Director of Public Health 

Local Healthwatch Procurement  
(Pre-Decision Scrutiny) 

David Stacey, Programme Manager, 
Strategy and Performance, Adult Care 
and Community Wellbeing 

Alex Craig, Commercial and 
Procurement Manager – People 
Services 

Page 81

Agenda Item 9



30 May 2018 – 10.00am  

Item Contributor(s) 

Lincolnshire Safeguarding Boards 
Scrutiny Sub-Group Minutes  - 16 April 
2018 

Democratic Services 

 
The items planned for the Committee are set out below: -  

 

4 July 2018 – 10.00am  

Item Contributor(s) 

Integrated Lifestyle Support Derek Ward, Director of Public Health 

Home Care Survey Outcomes 
Carolyn Nice, Assistant Director, Adult 

Frailty and Long Term Conditions 

2017/18 Adult Care and Community 
Wellbeing Quarter 4 Performance  

Theo Jarratt, County Manager, 
Performance Quality and Information 

Adult Care and Community Wellbeing - 
Budget Outturn 2017-18 

Steve Houchin, Head of Finance, Adult 

Care and Community Wellbeing 

 
 
 

5 September 2018 – 10.00am  

Item Contributor(s) 

Adult Care and Community Wellbeing - 
Budget Monitoring 2018-19 

Steve Houchin, Head of Finance, Adult 
Care and Community Wellbeing 

Quarter 1 Performance Report 
Theo Jarratt, County Manager, 
Performance Quality and Information 

Winter Planning 2018/19 
Tracy Perrett, County Manager Special 
Projects and Hospital Services 

Lincolnshire Safeguarding Boards 
Scrutiny Sub-Group Minutes  - 9 July 
2018 

Democratic Services 

 
 

10 October 2018 – 10.00am  

Item Contributor(s) 

Mosaic Update 
Emma Scarth, Strategic Programme 
Lead for Mosaic  

Page 82



10 October 2018 – 10.00am  

Item Contributor(s) 

Government Green Paper on Care and 
Support for Older People 

To be confirmed.   

 
 
 

28 November 2018 – 10.00am  

Item Contributor(s) 

Wellbeing Service – Update Report, 
including: Telecare 

Robin Bellamy, Wellbeing 
Commissioning Manager, Adult Care 
and Community Wellbeing 

Quarter 2 Performance Report 
Theo Jarratt, County Manager, 
Performance Quality and Information 

Adult Care and Community Wellbeing - 
Budget Monitoring 2018-19 

Steve Houchin, Head of Finance, Adult 
Care and Community Wellbeing 

Lincolnshire Safeguarding Boards 
Scrutiny Sub-Group Minutes  - October 
2018 

Democratic Services 

 
 
 
 

Potential Items for Inclusion in Work Programme 
 

 Transforming Care – Learning Disabilities.   

 National Carers Strategy  

 Joint Commissioning Arrangements.  

 Telehealth – NHS Provision 

 Alcohol Harm and Substance Misuse Services 

 Local Government Association: High Impact Model 
 
 
 

Executive Forward Plan 
 
Set out in Appendix A to this report are the proposed decisions in the Executive's 
forward plan, which relate to the remit of this Committee.  
 
Items Previously Considered by the Committee  
 
A schedule of items previously considered by the Scrutiny Committee is set out in 
Appendix B.  

 
 

Page 83



2. Conclusion
 
Members of the Committee are invited to review, consider and comment on the 
work programme and highlight for discussion any additional scrutiny activity which 
could be included for consideration in the work programme.   
 
 
3. Consultation 

 
a)  Have Risks and Impact Analysis been carried out? - Not Applicable 
b)  Risks and Impact Analysis - Not Applicable 
 
 
4. Appendices – These are listed below and set out at the conclusion of this 

report.  
 

Appendix A Forward Plan of Decisions within the Remit of the Adults and 
Community Wellbeing Scrutiny Committee.  

Appendix B Adults and Community Wellbeing Scrutiny Committee – Items 
Previously Considered 

 
 
5. Background Papers - No background papers within Section 100D of the Local 

Government Act 1972 were used in the preparation of this report. 
 

This report was written by Simon Evans, Health Scrutiny Officer, who can be 
contacted on 01522 553607 or by e-mail at Simon.Evans@lincolnshire.gov.uk 

 

Page 84

mailto:Simon.Evans@lincolnshire.gov.uk


  

APPENDIX A 
 

FORWARD PLAN OF DECISIONS WITHIN THE REMIT OF THE ADULTS AND COMMUNITY WELLBEING SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
 

From 1 June 2018 
 

 

DEC 
REF 

MATTERS 
FOR DECISION 

DATE OF 
DECISION 

DECISION 
MAKER 

PEOPLE/GROUPS 
CONSULTED PRIOR 

TO DECISION 

HOW TO COMMENT 
ON THE DECISION 

BEFORE IT IS MADE 
AND THE DATE BY 

WHICH COMMENTS 
MUST BE RECEIVED 

RESPONSIBLE 
PORTFOLIO HOLDER 
AND CHIEF OFFICER 

KEY       
DECISION 
YES/NO 

DIVISIONS 
AFFECTED 

I015652 
Healthwatch 
Lincolnshire  

Between 
1 June 

2018 and 
7 June 
2018 

Executive 
Councillor: 

NHS Liaison 
and 

Community 
Engagement 

Adults and 
Community 
Wellbeing Scrutiny 
Committee 

Programme Manager – Strategy 
and Performance 
Tel: 01522 554017 
Email: 
David.Stacey@lincolnshire.gov.uk 

Executive Councillor: 
NHS Liaison and 
Community 
Engagement and 
Executive Director of 
Adult Care and 
Community Wellbeing  

Yes All  

 

 

P
age 85

mailto:David.Stacey@lincolnshire.gov.uk


APPENDIX B  

 

ADULTS AND COMMUNITY WELLBEING SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
 

ITEMS PREVIOUSLY CONSIDERED 
 

 

 2017 2018 

 1
5
 J

u
n

e
 

2
6
 J

u
ly

 

6
 S

e
p
t 

2
9
 N

o
v
 

1
0
 J

a
n

 

1
4
 F

e
b

 

1
1
 A

p
r 

3
0
 M

a
y
 

4
 J

u
ly

 

5
 S

e
p
t 

1
0
 O

c
t 

2
8
 N

o
v
 

Adult Care and Community 
Wellbeing Introduction 

            

Better Care Fund             
Care Quality Commission Update             
Contract Management and 
Procurement 

            

Domestic Abuse Services             
Extra Care Housing             
IT Updates             
Joint Strategic Needs 
Assessment 

            

Local Account 2016-17             
Local Government and Social 
Care Ombudsman Report              

Managed Care Network for 
Mental Health 

            

Residential and Nursing Care Fee 
Levels 

            

NHS Health Check Programme             
Shared Lives              
Stop Smoking Service             
Strategic Market Support Partner             
Supported Housing             

Standard Items             
Budget Items             
Performance Reports             
Safeguarding Boards Sub Group             

 
 

 

Page 86


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the meeting of the Adults and Community Wellbeing Scrutiny Committee held on 11 April 2018
	5 The 2017 Annual Report of the Director of Public Health for Lincolnshire
	Appendix A

	7 Local Healthwatch Procurement
	8 Lincolnshire Safeguarding Boards Scrutiny Sub Group - Update
	Appendix A

	9 Adults and Community Wellbeing Scrutiny Committee Work Programme

